
 

 
 

 

 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday 6 August 2014 at 7.00 pm 
Board Room 3 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ 
 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillors: 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
  
ALLIE 
DALY 
CHOUDRY(C) 
COLWILL 
W MITCHELL MURRAY 
OLADAPO 
SOUTHWOOD 
VAN KALWALA 

AGHA, R PATEL, NERVA, J MITCHELL, MURRAY 
THOMAS, KANSAGRA, BM PATEL, KETAN SHETH,  
STOPP 

 
For further information contact: Bryony Gibbs, Democratic Services 
020 8937 1355, bryony.gibbs@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members. 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence  
 

 

2 Appointment of Vice Chair  
 

 

3 Declarations of interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

4 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

5 Central Middlesex Hospital closure assurance  
 

1 - 74 

 The purpose of this report is to update the Scrutiny Committee on the 
Brent CCG’s assurance process for the closure of the A&E unit at central 
Middlesex Hospital and Brent changes to related services to ensure a 
high quality of health care is accessible to residents. 
 

 

6 Transforming Healthcare in Brent  
 

75 - 92 

 This report sets out Brent CCG’s plans to transform the way health care is 
provided in Brent. The context for this proposal is the need to deliver care 
at a reduced cost while still achieving better patient outcomes. These 
plans are reflected in the CCG’s five year draft strategy which is intended 
to put in place more integrated and locally available services and reduce 
dependance on acute services. 
 

 

7 Call In - Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections  
 

93 - 120 

 Decisions made by the Cabinet on 21 July 2014 in respect of the following 
report below were called in for consideration by the Scrutiny Committee in 
accordance with Standing Orders. 
 
Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections 
 
The attached report sets out the decisions of the Cabinet and the call in 
details. Also attached is the original report that went to Cabinet, together 
with a supplementary report.  
 

 



 

3 
 

 Ward Affected: 
All Wards 

 Lead Member: Councillor Perrin 
Contact Officer: Chris Whyte, Environment 
Management 
Tel: 020 8937 5342 chris.whyte@brent.gov.uk 
 

 

8 Promoting electoral engagement  
 

121 - 
126 

 This report sets out the proposed scope for the Scrutiny task group on 
Promoting Electoral Engagement.  
 

 

9 Budget Scrutiny Panel - Terms of Reference  
 

127 - 
130 

 This paper sets out the proposed terms of reference for the Budget 
Scrutiny Panel. The Panel will be responsible for providing scrutiny of the 
council’s budget proposals as they are developed for the financial year 
2015/16 and beyond. 
 

 

10 Scrutiny Committee draft forward plan 2014/15  
 

131 - 
134 

11 Date of next meeting  
 

 

 The next scheduled meeting of the Scrutiny Committee will take place on 
9 September 2014. 
 

 

12 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the 
meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64. 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Tuesday 9 September 2014 
 

� Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 
• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
 

 

Scrutiny Committee 
6 August 2014 

Report from the Assistant Chief 
Executive 

  

For Information 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Closure of Central Middlesex Hospital Accident and 
Emergency Unit 

 
 

1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Scrutiny Committee on the Brent 
CCG’s assurance process for the closure of the A&E unit at Central Middlesex 
Hospital and Brent changes to related services to ensure a high quality of 
health care is accessible to residents. 
 

1.2 The strategy for modernising and improving healthcare in North West London 
(NW London) described in Shaping a healthier future (SaHF) includes 
changes to the way healthcare services are delivered with the aim to improve 
the quality of care and outcomes for patients across North West London.  This 
strategy includes consolidating A&E services across NW London onto fewer 
sites, as a result of which the A&E department at Central Middlesex Hospital 
(CMH) will close and CMH will become an elective and local hospital.  An 
outline business case is being developed for the local and elective hospital at 
CMH, with the current 24/7 Urgent Care Centre (UCC) being retained on site 
and delivering to an enhanced standalone specification. 
 

1.3 Following a public consultation the SaHF recommendations were agreed by 
the Joint Committee of Primary Care Trusts (JCPCT) in February 2013.  This 
decision was challenged by Ealing Council and an Independent 
Reconfiguration Panel (IRP) was set up to review the recommendations.  The 
Secretary of State for Health (SoS) announced his decision on 30 October 
2013 and, on the advice of the IRP, supported the recommendations in full 
and determined that Central Middlesex Hospital (CMH) and Hammersmith 
Hospital (HH) Accident and Emergency (A&E) departments should close “as 
soon as practicable”. Commissioners and providers are now working to 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

ensure that these changes are implemented and that robust assurance 
arrangements for the closure are in place 
 

1.4 This report sets out the CCG’s assurance arrangements for the closure with 
the intention that any adverse impacts on patent care a mitigated. 
 

 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
 2.1 The committee is recommended to question representatives of the CCG on 

the robustness of their assurance plans and the timescale for their 
implementation, as well as on what contingency plans are in place in case any 
of the proposals turn out not to be possible or feasible. 
 
Contact Officers 
Ben Spinks 
Assistant Chief Executive 
ben.spinks@brent.gov.uk 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
Cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 2



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
Brent overview and scrutiny committee 
meeting – 6 August 2014 

Closure of Central Middlesex Hospital Accident 
and Emergency Unit  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 28 July, 2014  

Page 3



2 | P a g e  
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 Brent CCG has ambitious plans to transform the way care is provided in Brent 

so that the patient receives the best possible treatment through high quality 
integrated care.   

 
1.2  The purpose of this paper is to update the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on Brent CCG’s assurance process for the closure of the A&E unit at Central 
Middlesex Hospital.  The full set of papers considered by the Brent CCG 
Governing Body is at http://www.brentccg.nhs.uk/en/publications/governing-
body-meeting-papers/cat_view/1-publications/3-governing-body-meeting-
papers/262-23-july-2014. The paper should be read in conjunction with the 
separate report on the three major transformation programmes being pursued 
in Brent and involving local authorities and patients as partners.  

 
 
2 Recommendation 
 
2.1. To read the paper and ask any questions to representatives of the CCG and 

NWLHT at the committee meeting on 6 August.  There will be a presentation of 
this paper by the CCG at the meeting. 

 
3 Introduction to Brent Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
3.1 Brent Clinical Commissioning Group (Brent CCG) is a GP member practice 

organisation made up of all 67 GP practices in the borough that decides and 
buys the health services that are needed for people in Brent. 

 
3.2 Many of the GPs in Brent CCG have lived and worked in Brent for over 20 

years, and so have a long commitment to helping the community and the 
people who live here.  We have a clear vision of delivering better care, closer 
to people’s homes in Brent, and we are working in partnership with our 
patients, communities, members and partners to deliver this.  For 
commissioning, our GP member practices work together in five geographical 
areas across the borough - Harness, Kilburn, Kingsbury, Wembley and 
Willesden.  

 
3.5 We have ambitious plans to improve primary care, patient access to services, 

help people to manage their long term conditions and keep healthy through 
better lifestyle choices. 

 
3.6 Managing and treating patients in primary and community care means fewer 

unnecessary admissions to hospital, so hospitals can concentrate on patients 
who are critically ill and those who require specialist care. 

 
3.7 Brent CCG is committed to giving patients and services users the opportunity 

to be fully involved in the decisions we take, so that the idea of ‘no decision 
about me, without me’ becomes the way we work. 

 

Page 4



3 | P a g e  
 

3.8 The work of NHS Brent Clinical Commissioning Group is overseen by our 
Governing Body which includes three lay members, a nurse and specialist 
clinician from outside of the area, a Chief Officer, and a Chief Financial 
Officer.   Brent CCG works in a Federation with Harrow and Hillingdon CCGs 
sharing senior officers and work in collaboration with all 8 CCGs in NW London. 

 
3.9 The Northwick Park Hospital and Central Middlesex Hospital are the two acute 

hospitals which are run by NHS North West London Hospitals Trust.  Brent 
patients use these hospitals the most, followed by St Mary’s, Hammersmith and 
the Royal Free Hospital.  Community services are largely provided by the Brent 
Community Services that form part of Ealing Integrated Care Organisation 
managed by NHS Ealing Hospital Trust.  NWLHT and Ealing Hospital Trust are 
expected to merge as a single trust from October 2014.  Mental health services 
for the borough are commissioned from Central and North West London NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

 
4 Brent CCG’s assurance process for the closure of Central Middlesex 

Hospital A&E unit 
 
4.1 Background and Context 
 
4.1.1 The strategy for modernising and improving healthcare in North West London 

(NW London) described in Shaping a healthier future (SaHF) includes changes 
to the way healthcare services are delivered to improve the quality of care and 
outcomes for patients across North West London.  This strategy includes 
consolidating A&E services across NW London onto fewer sites, as a result of 
which the A&E department at Central Middlesex Hospital (CMH) will close and 
CMH will become an elective and local hospital.  An outline business case is 
being developed for the local and elective hospital at CMH, with the current 24/7 
Urgent Care Centre (UCC) being retained on site and delivering to an enhanced 
specification as it will now be standalone. 

4.1.2 Following a full public consultation the SaHF recommendations were agreed by 
the Joint Committee of Primary Care Trusts (JCPCT) in February 2013.  This 
decision was challenged by Ealing OSC and an Independent Reconfiguration 
Panel (IRP) was set up to review the recommendations.  The Secretary of State 
for Health (SoS) announced his decision on 30 October 2013 and, on the 
advice of the IRP, supported the recommendations in full and determined that 
Central Middlesex Hospital (CMH) and Hammersmith Hospital (HH) Accident 
and Emergency (A&E) departments should close “as soon as practicable”. 
Commissioners, providers and clinicians are now working to ensure that these 
changes are implemented.   

4.1.3 There were a number of risks in keeping the CMH A&E department open which 
on balance, created an imperative to close the unit in line with the Secretary of 
State’s requirements: 

Page 5



4 | P a g e  
 

· Currently the department is not consultant led and the staff are 
predominantly locums and doctors that are not on the London Deanery 
training programmes.  The service is staffed currently to safe levels but the 
reliance on locums mean that this is not a safe way to manage the service 
in an ongoing way 

· NWLHT has highlighted that it is unable to staff the Emergency Unit with 
the appropriate grade of medical staff as they do not have the appropriate 
doctors to oversee and supervise the work.  

· Unplanned closure is a likely possibility on clinical safety grounds as the 
workforce is now preparing for change 

· Not implementing the CMH A&E closure is very likely to lead to system 
wide deterioration of performance, particularly over the winter months 

 

4.1.4 The dependencies between the emergency service transitions at CMH and HH 
were reviewed by the SaHF Clinical Board and Programme Board.  A detailed 
analysis of attendances and admissions at CMH and HH A&E departments 
highlighted a wide geographical spread across NW London, with significant 
overlap in patient populations attending these sites.  The Clinical and 
Programme Boards concluded that, unless it became impractical, both 
emergency departments should close on the same day.  This would avoid 
patient flows being displaced to ‘the other’ A&E in the pair (a site also scheduled 
for imminent closure) and to provide a simpler and safer message for the 
communications campaign with a single closure date for the public to 
remember.   

4.1.5 North West London Hospitals NHS Trust (NWLHT) Board on 28 May 2014 
agreed their readiness for implementation and a planned closure of CMH A&E 
department on 10 September.  On the same day, Imperial College Healthcare 
NHS Trust (ICHT) Board also confirmed the Trust’s readiness and a planned 
closure date of 10 September 2014 for the EU department at HH. 

4.1.6 It was agreed to implement the service changes on this date for the following 
reasons: 

· The decision by the Secretary of State that the Central Middlesex Hospital 
(CMH) and Hammersmith Hospital (HH) Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
departments should close “as soon as practicable” was interpreted as 
before Winter 2014/15 

· To allow sufficient time for capacity to be developed at both materially 
impacted sites 

· To achieve as close alignment as possible to Junior Doctor rotations (6 
August) 

· To avoid periods of summer holiday (i.e. August) 
· To implement the changes on a  weekday, based on learning from Barnet 

and Chase Farm (e.g. Wednesday)  
 

 

Page 6



5 | P a g e  
 

4.2 The Assurance Process that was developed and undertaken 
 
4.2.1 The SaHF programme worked with Brent CCG, Hammersmith & Fulham CCG, 

NHS England, The NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), NWLHT, 
Imperial, London Ambulance Service (LAS), Central Middlesex Non-Elective 
Steering Group, and CMH A&E Closure Project Board, Charing Cross Zone 
Steering Group and Hammersmith Project Delivery Board to develop a 
detailed assurance framework which assessed readiness for transition for A&E 
services at both hospital sites against ten critical areas.  Lessons and learning 
were also taken from other reconfiguration programmes, such as the one 
recently implemented at Barnet and Chase Farm (also known as the BEH 
Clinical Strategy). 

4.2.2. The assurance providers considered following ten delivery dimensions: 

Delivery Dimensions  Sub criteria 

1. Clinical Quality Are correct policies and agreed pathways in 
place for safe transition of services to requisite 
level of quality? 

2. Operational and Capacity 
Planning 

Is the capacity available in receiving acute and 
out of hospital sites with agreed operational 
policies? 

3. Workforce Is a suitably capable workforce in place for a 
safe transition? 

4. Communications & 
Engagement 

Has there been sufficient, patient and public 
engagement and is there a plan for this to 
continue? 

5. Travel  Have travel implications as a result of the 
reconfiguration been identified and addressed? 

6. Equalities Have equality implications as a result of the 
reconfiguration been identified and addressed? 

7. Finance Has due consideration been given to activity 
and financial implications of transition? 

8. EPRR Planning Have statutory duties to prepare for responding 
to major incidents and ensuring continuity of 
priority services been satisfied? 

9. System Assurance Have all affected organisations understood the 
change and are prepared to manage the 

Page 7



6 | P a g e  
 

transition? 

10. Risk of non-closure Have the risks of non-closure been addressed? 

 

4.2.3 Each delivery dimension that was assured consisted of a set of detailed 
questions designed to test readiness against that dimension including the 
relevant supporting documentation to demonstrate that each assurance criteria 
had been satisfied.  

4.3 Delivery Dimensions of Assurance: 
The assurance provided in each of the delivery dimensions is set out below. 

Dimension 1 - Clinical Quality 
 
4.3.1 The guiding principle behind SaHF is to ensure improved care and outcomes 

for patients. It is therefore essential that the objective of this domain is to 
ensure safe high quality service provision is maintained throughout and after 
the transition. This has not only included consideration of the evidence of 
readiness of the NPH site but also the UCC at CMH, the readiness of the other 
receiving hospitals as well as LAS.  

4.3.2 The reconfiguration component of Shaping a healthier future will deliver the 
centralisation of key acute services onto fewer sites (such as acute emergency 
care) and people working in new ways, with new models of care. This will 
mean the system is able to sustainably deliver the necessary workforce to 
attain the standards with the right level of access to facilities and equipment 
such as diagnostics. 

4.3.3. So whilst London Quality Standards are not currently fully met there are clear 
plans in place to ensure that there is no deterioration in performance as a 
result of the CMH A&E planned closure. Furthermore trajectories show 
improved performance from last year and performance at NPH has improved 
consistently over the last two years.   

4.3.4 A group of clinicians from Brent and Harrow CCG and the Emergency 
Department (ED) at NPH have met and discussed proposed pathways, 
staffing and rotas and the expectations of quality of care in great detail. Staff 
from CMH A&E department will transfer to NPH A&E department and 
Ambulatory Care Units on closure. This will assist in delivering an improved 
service with better outcomes for patients as a larger skilled workforce will be 
consolidated onto one site at NPH, improving staffing levels and as a result 
performance, to meet the London Quality Standards.  These improvements 
will be enhanced with move to the new ED, currently being built, in the 
Autumn. The Trust has committed additional medical and nursing staff (over 
and above those that will transfer) so that there can be better alignment 
between the peak times of demand and staffing capacity. This will improve all 
aspects of patient experience and quality as well as operational performance.  

Page 8



7 | P a g e  
 

4.3.5 The plans being put in place for CMH A&E closure improves staffing and beds 
capacity to ensure that current standards will be maintained and , in fact, 
should  improve. It also enables new pathways to be developed that will 
deliver enhanced experience for patients by getting the, to the ‘right place, 
right people and right care’ more quickly and more reliably. 

 
4.3.6 The signed contract between Brent CCG as lead commissioner for NWLHT 

includes quality, performance and clinical governance monitoring of acute 
services, with contract monitoring, performance and clinical governance 
meetings to identify and address any areas of concern.  There are monthly 
Clinical Quality Group meetings that report into both commissioner and 
provider quality and safety committee structures.  

 
The Urgent Care Centre at CMH has been required to deliver the Shaping a 
Healthier Future specification (as described in the Emergency and Urgent Care 
Clinical Implementation Group report) and will meet the urgent care standards set out 
within it.  The initial work involved understanding what additional training 
requirements would be needed for staff in the centre and this localised training will 
have been delivered prior to the A&E closure.   
 
A joint Hammersmith and Central Middlesex A&E Closure Operations Executive has 
been established, to monitor the performance, quality and safety of the service during 
and after the transition period, via a number of specific Key Performance Indicators, 
to provide assurance that planned service changes can take place. 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· London standards for acute medicine and emergency medicine document  
mapped to new clinical pathways 

· NHS England/NHS Trust Development Authority Assurance Report for 
North West London Hospital Trust 

· Education and training report from North West London 
· Acute Key Performance Indicator dashboard 
· Clinical Quality Dashboard 

 
The Governing Body was assured that the evidence indicates that safe, high quality 
service provision will be maintained throughout and after the transition. The 
consolidation of A&E services onto the single site at NPH will improve care and 
performance. 

2 Operational and Capacity Planning 

The objective of this domain is to ensure that the system is able to sustain new 
patient flows. 

NWLHT has undertaken modelling which demonstrates that the majority of A&E 
activity (Non-Urgent Care Centre) transfers from CMH to NPH A&E department. The 
modelling indicates a small proportion of activity transferring to the Accident and 

Page 9



8 | P a g e  
 

Emergency departments at St Mary’s, Ealing and Royal Free. Current UCC activity is 
assumed to be fully retained at the Central Middlesex Hospital site.  Therefore there 
will not be additional Urgent Care Centre activity transferring from CMH UCC to other 
sites. To support local planning the programme has carried out activity modelling. 
The programme modelling indicated that the total activity transfers to S t Mary’s and 
Northwick Park is consistent with the Trust modelling assumptions. However, this 
programme analysis indicated there could be a slightly wider dispersal of Accident 
and Emergency activity movement (Non-UCC), but not to any level that would 
materially impact surrounding sites. This programme modelling indicated there could 
be a small activity transfer to Ealing Hospital Accident and Emergency of no more 
than 10 Accident and Emergency attendances and three Non-Elective admissions a 
day in total from both the Central Middlesex Hospital and Hammersmith Hospital 
sites. This level of redirection is unlikely however and actual numbers should be 
significantly lower due to the continued existence of an enhanced service 
specification for the Urgent Care Centres at CMH and HH, and local CCG led 
mitigations such as the continued development of primary care and admission 
avoidance services such as STARRS. 

Given the underlying assumption and modelling indicate minimal flow to other 
surrounding Accident and Emergency departments other than Northwick Park (for 
Central Middlesex Hospital), the impact on the other surrounding Accident and 
Emergency departments will not be significant enough to impact on their current 
performance.  

On the closure of the CMH A&E and the end of acute admissions to the site an 
additional ward of 22 beds will be opened at NPH. This will provide more bed 
capacity than is needed to provide for the CMH transfer and is therefore a net benefit 
to the NPH bed base thus improving performance. In addition the Trust will be 
expanding a pre-existing scheme that transfer more complex patients requiring on-
going rehabilitation back to Gladstone Wards at CMH. This will also increase the bed 
capacity at NPH to support the acute care system. 

NWLHT Operational Model: 

Activity flowing from NPH to CMH after admission for elderly patients post-acute 
phase of treatment.  The effect of this has shown that 1,244 patients could be 
transferred to CMH each year. 
 

Page 10



9 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Detailed assurance has also been obtained from LAS on how they plan to address 
the additional journey times to take some of the patients to hospital. This should not 
be confused with the delivery of the Cat A and C times for getting to patients, which 
is the clinically critical issue for patient outcomes. Staffing is a challenge for LAS 
currently but they are actively engaged in a number of activities which will deliver 
increased capacity by September and thus support critical delivery. An LAS liaison 
officer will be in place to work with the acute Trusts and support attendances. 

Although the modelling and planning demonstrates that the CMH closure will have a 
net positive impact on NPH performance it is not sufficient to address the overall 
underperformance at NPH. Further work is underway linked to the System 
Resilience, ideas under consideration include: 

· Extending the opening hours and scope of ambulatory care 
· Enhancing the support from Acute Medicine into the A&E 
· Improving 7 day access to diagnostics 
· Redesign of staffing rotas 
· Commissioning of additional non-acute beds especially for Harrow residents 
·  

The objective is that these measures deliver a 1-2% improvement in overall 
performance. Detailed action plans will be delivered by end July 2014. 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Central Middlesex Hospital and Hammersmith Hospital Activity Overlap 
Analysis     

· North West London-wide Activity and Capacity Report  
· North West London Contingency Plan  
· North West London Accident and Emergency performance report 

(2013/2014)  
· Barnet Enfield Haringey Lessons Learnt Report  
· London Ambulance Service Workshop Report  

Page 11



10 | P a g e  
 

· Central Middlesex Non-Elective Steering Group Terms of Reference (in 
Shaping a Healthier Future Programme Project Initiation Document)  

· Assurance Report for North West London Hospital Trust 
· NWLHT Cost Improvement Plans 
· Brent and Harrow CCG QIPP Plans 

 

The Governing Body was assured that following transition; the system will be able to 
sustain new patient flows. 

3 Workforce 

The objective of this domain is to ensure that sufficient numbers of staff and 
grade/skill mix is in place for safe service provision. 

Organisations have fully consulted with their staff on the proposed changes and the 
affect this will have on services and individuals’ roles. This includes individual and 
group meetings and the involvement of staff-side bodies. The models for service 
delivery have been worked on with staff and plans have been put in place to ensure 
that there are sufficient staffing levels with the right skills to meet the new service 
models. 

The programme has been working with Health Education North West London to 
provide support staff in the standalone Urgent Care Centres which will remain at 
Hammersmith Hospital and Central Middlesex Hospital. Each Urgent Care Centre will 
receive funds to support the delivery of short courses and individual learning 
accounts for all staff working at the standalone Urgent Care Centres. The specific 
workforce requirements are being managed locally by providers as is the education 
provision.  

As is common across the country, recruitment to middle grade and consultant 
medical staff is challenging and is one of the drivers behind the consolidations of 
sites outlined in SaHF. However the fact that staff, especially some 20 nursing staff 
are relocating from CMH A&E to Northwick Park Hospital A&E site following closure 
of the Emergency Department at CMH. In addition staffing and rotas reviews linked 
to the opening of the new ED mean that additional funding is in place and recruitment 
underway for additional nursing and consultant medical staff. This will take time but 
contingency and locum arrangements mean that the service is safe with enhanced 
staffing 
 
The Urgent Care Centre provider, has had discussions with their recruitment team 
and the plan will include a recruitment drive for additional staff resource to be in place 
well ahead of the planned closure of CMH Emergency Department closure.  
 
London Ambulance Service has modelled the impact of the SaHF service changes 
on its operations (London Ambulance Service modelling report, Feb 2014) and 

Page 12



11 | P a g e  
 

agreed an additional staffing requirement with the commissioners to support all of the 
SaHF changes. However, in the short term LAS has stated that it has embarked on a 
recruitment campaign to fill current vacancies. This involves recruiting from graduate 
paramedics from University, and qualified paramedics from other UK providers. 
London Ambulance Service has confirmed that the first batch of recruits from this 
campaign will be available in North West London in September 2014.   
 
In order to provide interim cover for the current vacancies the Trust utilises private 
ambulance providers and voluntary aid services such as St John. Overtime is 
routinely offered to Trust staff to cover gaps. In addition, the Trust continues to 
proactively manage the incoming demand of 999 calls in a variety of ways.  

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Education and Training Funding from North West London to support 
workforce transition 

· Signed Contract including Key performance Indicators.  
· Shaping a Healthier Future Urgent Care Centre updated Clinical Board 

Report  
· North West London Hospital Trust – Accident and Emergency - capacity 

and demand paper 
· Human Resources Key Principles Document 
· Human resources recruitment and retention plan  
· Central Middlesex Hospital consultation paper    
· Joint Negotiating Consultative Committee  Meeting minutes -  Frequently 

Asked Questions for staff affected by changes to accident and emergency 
services 

· Staff Forum Meeting minutes  
· Shaping a Healthier Future Partnership Forum Terms of Reference 

 
The Governing Body was assured that there is sufficient numbers of staff and grade 
mix in place for safe service provision. 

4 Communications and Engagement 

The objective of this domain is to ensure that patients, the public and wider 
stakeholders (including Local Authorities) are kept informed of the changes and 
where to go when. 

In order to implement the closures of the Central Middlesex and Hammersmith 
Hospitals A&Es and embed the 24/7 urgent care centres at the sites, a joint North 
West London communications group (CCG, SaHF, Trusts and lay members) have 
been engaging patient groups, other lay partners, and members of the public to 
ensure widespread awareness and understanding of the changes. This, (in addition 
to research on what methods and formats are effective for local residents and service 
users, and feedback from other organisations who have gone through similar change 

Page 13



12 | P a g e  
 

processes), has informed the development of a large scale co-designed public 
information and advertising campaign, which began on 28 July. This is described in 
detail in the Joint Hammersmith Hospital / Central Middlesex Hospital 
Communications and Engagement Plan, and summarised below. 

Three broad levels of messaging have been identified for the public information 
campaign, depending on the channel used and therefore how long someone is likely 
to see the messages for: 

· Level 1 – Short view advertising (eg billboards, bus stop ads)  
· Level 2 – Long view advertising (Print ads, door drop)  
· Level 3 – Detailed activity (Leaflets, engagement materials, website)  

The communications campaign will be tiered geographically as follows: 

1. Core communication area 

This is where the concentration of advertising material and mailouts to local groups 
and businesses will occur.  Based on the patient flow data provided to the 
workstream the core of the campaign will focus on the following geographic areas: 

• Brent; 
• East Ealing;  
• North H&F;  
• North K&C;  
• Far East of Hounslow 
 

2. Full boroughs 
• All boroughs which fall in to level 1 will see engagement with community 

groups and politicians across the whole borough. 
 

3. NW London wide 
• Wider communications across all 8 boroughs in North West London around 

progress of SaHF implementation  

The public information campaign includes: 

· Adverts in local papers  
· Billboard advertising in approaches to the hospitals   
· Panels in buses in routes in the core areas around the sites  
· 150 bus stop/ standalone street signs  
· 312,500 pharmacy bags  
· Council bus adverts in Brent 
· A letter sent to schools to distribute to parents ahead of the end of term in July 
· Information on screens in General Practitioner waiting rooms where available  
· Door drops to 285,000 properties within the tier 1 geography   
· Information in the form of either leaflets or posters distributed to key 

organisations:  

Page 14



13 | P a g e  
 

• Council buildings 
• Libraries 
• General Practitioner surgeries 
• Hospitals (leaflets and posters in the Hammersmith Emergency Unit 

and Central Middlesex A&E) 
• Taxi companies 
• Faith buildings 
• Colleges & universities 
• Pharmacies 
• GP prescriptions 
• Hairdressers 
• Police stations 
• Dentists 
• Hotels 
• Nursing homes 
• Community groups 

In addition a significant amount of information will be distributed through the 
engagement work undertaken by the equalities and access workstream. 

The material for the public information campaign has been tested with a range of 
internal and external stakeholders. In addition to testing with clinicians, internal 
audiences, Trust senior officers, Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers, 
Patient and Public Representative Group and lay partners, we have also conducted 2 
rounds of independent testing in focus groups across Brent, Ealing and 
Hammersmith and Fulham. The groups were selected to be representative of the 
age, ethnic and social demographics of the boroughs. In total 8 focus groups were 
used to test the public information campaign material, with 3 groups in Hammersmith 
and Fulham, 3 groups in Brent and 2 groups in East Ealing.  
 
To ensure that the campaign is having the desired impact and reaching the general 
public as expected, we will have two phases of evaluation. We will undertake the first 
round of evaluation in mid-late August to ensure the campaign is reaching our 
audiences as intended. It will take the form of independent public awareness testing, 
and if there are lower levels of awareness than expected, we will look to increase the 
volume of advertising and engagement occurring prior to the closures. Phase 2 will 
occur after the closures and will aim to inform future patient and public 
communication. We are in the process of defining metrics and targets. The outputs 
from this evaluation will be reported into the Hammersmith and Central Middlesex 
A&E Closure Operations Executive. 
 
It is planned to continue the information campaign beyond the closure dates, with 
messages refreshed to evolve into a wider behaviour change campaign through the 
autumn.  
 

Page 15



14 | P a g e  
 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Communications  plan  
· Communications action log 
· Communications & Engagement workstream minutes            
· Communications plan - Clinical Commissioning Group led specific General 

Practitioner engagement plan 
· Draft advertising 
· Communications plan - Clinical Commissioning Group led specific GP 

engagement plan 
· Staff engagement process plan 
· Staff meeting dates and Frequently Asked Questions 

 

The Governing Body was assured that patients, the public and wider stakeholders 
(including Local Authorities) are kept informed of the changes and to inform them of 
where and when to go for the services they need.  

Additional Information is provided on communications in Appendix 1 including 
the content of advertising information. 

5 Travel 
 
The objective of this domain is to ensure that due regard has been given to impact on 
travel/transport issues and mitigations are in place where necessary. This builds on 
the extensive work which was undertaken as a part of the Shaping a Healthier Future 
Decision Making Business Case, which showed that 91% of patients will be 
unaffected.  

As recommended by the SaHF Decision Making Business Case travel analysis, 
North West London Hospital Trust has undertaken a site specific provider travel plan. 
The Travel Advisory group (TAG) commissioned site specific travel surveys across all 
nine major hospital sites which have been shared with respective Trusts.  The results 
of the travel surveys will assist Trusts in updating their travel plans and Trusts are 
being offered support by WestTrans to update their travel plans to best practice 
standards.  

The Shaping a Healthier Future programme has undertaken detailed travel analysis 
of the CMH site, in advance of the upcoming service changes. These were finalised 
and shared with the Central Middlesex Hospital team. 

As part of the joint CMH/HH Equalities and Access Workstream, TAG has been 
working to support the two A&E closures through: 
 

· Promoting a travel mentoring scheme to community groups via the work being 
undertaken by the joint CMH/HH Equalities and Access Workstream 

Page 16



15 | P a g e  
 

· WestTrans have offered to assist with this as they have good links to faith 
groups and this is being progressed 

· WestTrans has a mapping tool that is being customised to assist 
patients/carers to plan their journeys to hospital sites 

· Google maps is being updated 
· Legible London maps are being piloted at EH and NPH – working to get this 

extended to other 7 sites 
· TfL spider maps showing bus routes at each site – requested for them to be 

updated and not withdrawn 
· CMH and HH websites being updated (in liaison with Travel Line) 
· Journey planner being promoted 
· Step free information being updated onto Trust websites (eg: to travel to NPH 

you have to get overground to Wembley Park and bus to NPH) 
· Updating road signage for CMH/HH A&E closures update: 

· TfL and Brent and Ealing LAs working to date of 9th September, as a 
minimum to remove red H signage and to replace with blue H signage 

· Confirmation to TfL and Brent and Ealing LAs Friday 11 th July that the 
programme would like signage to be: 

o Blue H and urgent care 24 hours (not Dept of Transport 
recognised), or alternatively 

o Blue H and minor injuries 24 hours (Dept of Transport recognised) 
· H&F LA will be sending a letter of confirmation that they do not have any 

Hammersmith Hospital road signage in place (following email confirmation 
3rd July) 

· NWLHT estates team has identified Brent and Ealing LA owned signage 
10th July 

· LAS is checking road signage and will provide update by 21st July 
· Triangulation of information w/c 21st July to correlate/ensure no gaps 
· TfL confirmed on 11th July that signage has been identified, a final survey 

is being undertaken on Monday 14th and a quote for each phase of the 
work will be prepared following Monday’s final survey 

 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Travel Fact Sheet 
· DMBC Travel Analysis 
· Travel Advisory Group Report 

 

The Governing Body was assured that due regard has been given to the impact on 
travel/transport issues and mitigations are in place where necessary.  

6 Equalities 
 
The objective of these domains are to ensure that it can be demonstrated that due 
regard has been given to the impact on equalities issues and mitigations are in place 
where necessary. 

Page 17



16 | P a g e  
 

As part of this process a joint Equalities and Access working group has been 
established by both Imperial and North West London Hospital trust to ensure that any 
negative impacts on the 9  protected groups identified by the service transition is 
mitigated by actions and future service changes by both trusts. The Equalities and 
Access work stream includes equalities leads from both trusts and community and 
voluntary representatives from the target boroughs. 
 
A large piece of work was produced in April 2014 which examined the populations 
with protected characteristics as defined by the Equalities Act 2010. Each Trust has 
used the outputs of this work to strengthen their business cases for how they design 
services. As part of the work with the local ethnic and demographic population, work 
has been undertaken with a large number of groups and communities across the 
geographic target area to look at the patients and communities that use Central 
Middlesex A&E for their care and who may be impacted by the closure. This has 
included work to engage with local. The joint equalities and access group has also 
been working to ensure that before the services transition the programme 
communicates and engages with as many groups as possible through a large 
communications and engagement campaign. 
 
The Equalities and Access group has identified a long list of groups that are a priority 
to engage with. This includes protected and hard to reach groups. Between January 
and May 2014 the Shaping a healthier future programme undertook engagement with 
over 25 local organisations, meeting approximately 500 people. The groups included 
those with learning disabilities, the elderly, those with physical disabilities, refugee 
and migrant community organisations. The programme has written to a large number 
of ethnic and protected groups informing them of the changes and offering them 
information and engagement that is in different languages and in different formats 
including easy read and using the borough based talking newspaper service for 
those that are partially sighted.  The programme will also be using the ethnic media 
to get key messages out to target groups. In addition, the programme is 
commissioning a number of local voluntary sector groups from Brent, Ealing and 
Hammersmith and Fulham to assist with the communication and engagement work 
on the service changes 

Following legal advice, the plans for additional engagement of hard to reach groups 
in advance of this service change have been reviewed. Both CCG Accountable 
Officers (from H&F CCG and Brent CCG) have signed a statement of approval that 
based upon this legal advice they are satisfied the statutory duties on their 
organisations conferred by the Equalities Act have been met.  

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Equality Impact Assessment and Clinical Model 
· Overlap analysis 

Page 18



17 | P a g e  
 

· Independent Reconfiguration Panel Report, SOS decision 
· HH & CMH NEL Transition Steering Groups 
· Joint Equalities & Access Workstream -  Review of Programme activities to date 

and action plan 
· The engagement plan (including the database of groups that will be engaged) 
· The engagement tracker 
· Summary of the SaHF equalities and access work to date 

The Governing Body was assured that due regard has been given to the impact on 
equalities issues and mitigations are in place where necessary.  

7 Finance 
 
The objective of this domain is to ensure that appropriate contingency has been put 
in place to mitigate financial risks resulting from transition. 

Throughout the development of the Shaping a Healthier Future programme, there 
have been regular financial modelling reviews supported by all Trusts and 
Commissioners through a Finance and Activity Modelling Group (FAM) consisting of 
the Brent Harrow and Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group Finance Director, 
CWHHE Finance Director and all Trust Finance Directors. This has been updated 
following the decision to proceed with the early Accident and Emergency closures at 
Central Middlesex Hospital and Hammersmith Hospital.   

Both Trusts and the programme have undertaken local activity modelling to review 
the re-distribution of activity following the transition of Accident and Emergency 
services. Programme modelling supports the assumptions that have been made by 
both Trusts, with the only exception that the programme predicts a slightly wider 
movement of activity outside of Imperial Trust.  

The majority of activity redistribution will remain within Trusts, with only small 
changes of net activity within each Trust, therefore it is not predicted that transitions 
will lead to a significant change to Trust financial positions. 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Trust Financial models    
· SaHF transitional funding plan 
· Shaping a Healthier Future utilisation of 2 5 pc budget Draft (2 April 2014) 
· CMH and Hammersmith Activity overlap analysis – report for SaHF 

Implementation Board (3 April 2014) 
 

The Governing Body should be assured that appropriate contingency has been put in 
place to mitigate financial risks resulting from transition. 

Page 19



18 | P a g e  
 

8 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Planning 
 
The objective of this domain is to ensure that NW London is prepared to respond to 
major incidents, and ensure continuity of priority services. 

NHS England is statutorily responsible for Emergency Preparedness and this is not a 
domain for which the CCG is accountable. In its statutory role NHS England will be 
assessing whether EPPR is sufficiently assured ahead of the planned service 
changes. NHS England is holding ‘Exercise Surety’ on July 22nd 2014 in order to test 
the planned closures and their effects on the wider system. We expect NHS England 
to confirm that they are satisfied this domain will be met in full. 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Preparation for Exercise Surety 22 July 2014 
· Current EPPR plans 
· Assurance from NHS England 
 
Additional detail on this domain can be found in Appendix 1. The CCG chair will be 
informed of any material issues arising from ‘Exercise Surety’ in line with the 
arrangements outlined below for advising the CCG’s Governing Body if any 
major/significant unforeseen clinical or building issue arise after the 22 July.  
 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Major Incident & Emergency planning policies 
· Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Assurance Plan 

Central Middlesex Hospital 
· North West London Contingency Plan 
· North West London Hospital Trust Business Continuity plan 
· Exercise Surety report following event (22 July 2014) 

 

The Governing Body was assured that NW London is prepared to respond to major 
incidents, and ensure continuity of priority services 

9 System Assurance 
 
The objective of this domain is to ensure that continued senior level cross system 
involvement and support is in place for system assurance. 

The CMH A&E Transition project is set within the context of the wider Shaping a 
Healthier Future programme governance, which includes a number of key 
governance forums where key stakeholders are represented: 
 

- NWL Clinical Commissioning Group Collaboration Board 

Page 20



19 | P a g e  
 

- Shaping a Healthier Future Implementation Programme Board 
- Shaping a Healthier Future Clinical Board 
- Zone meetings 
- Implementation project boards 
- Emergency and Urgent Care Clinical Implementation Group 
- Patient and Public Representative Group 

 
The Shaping a Healthier Future programme governance structure is detailed in the 
Shaping a Healthier Future Programme Initiation Document. 
 

The Shaping a Healthier Future programme governance structure is detailed in the 
Shaping a Healthier Future Programme Initiation Document. The key stakeholders 
involved in this governance structure are regarded as being sufficiently senior. An 
extensive communications strategy & plan is in place to ensure continued 
engagement with all programme and project stakeholders. As highlighted in the 
Project Initiation Document for the CMH NEL Transition Project, lay partners have 
been actively involved in the project, both at the Project Delivery Board level and the 
workstream level. As outlined in the governance section of the Programme Initiation 
Document, the project reports into a number of different governance forums, thereby 
engaging a wide range of stakeholders on the progress of the project. 

Whilst the programme team will work with colleagues in the CCGs, CSU and 
Providers to ensure the right data and information is received, there is no substitute 
for effective operational ‘grip’. To achieve this, the programme is proposing the 
establishment of an A&E Closure Operations Executive with the sole remit of 
monitoring activity, performance and patient flows for a safe transition of services. 
Recognising that this is a period of substantial change for healthcare systems in 
North West London, we believe that it is important that stakeholders from across the 
whole system work together to mitigate any risks which may arise. This forum does 
not replace all of the local work which will be ongoing at a Trust and CCG level to 
manage the safe transition of services. 

The following sources, amongst others, were used for evidence in arriving at this 
assessment: 

· Joint Hammersmith Hospital / Central Middlesex Hospital Communications 
Plan  

· Minutes from Patient and Public Reference Group 
· Hammersmith Emergency Unit Transition Project Initiation Document 
· North West London Contingency plan 
· Minutes from Tri-Borough Urgent Care Programme Board 
· Minutes from the Charing Cross and Hammersmith Zone Meetings  
· Charing Cross Local Hospital Engagement Report 
· Minutes from Hammersmith Emergency Unit Closure Committee 
· Minutes from 3rd July Shaping a healthier future implementation 

programme board 

Page 21



20 | P a g e  
 

· Terms of Reference for the Tri-Borough Urgent Care Programme Board 
(TBC) 

· Shaping a Healthier Future Project Initiation Document 
· Implementation Programme Board Minutes & Papers 
· Join Committee Primary Care Trust Minutes (19 February 2013) 
· Urgent Care Board Update (June 2014) 
· Central Middlesex Non-Elective Transition Workstream Steering Group 

Meeting Minutes – includes an update on Urgent Care Board (13 May 
2014 

· Shaping a Healthier Future Patient and Public Representative Group 
Minutes 

The Governing Body was assured that continued senior level cross system 
involvement and support is in place for system assurance. 

 

10  Risk of delay to planned closure 
 
The objective of this domain is to ensure that the risk of delay to closure is sufficiently 
factored in to decision making. 

There are a number of risks in keeping the CMH A&E department open which on 
balance, creates an imperative to close the unit in line with the Secretary of State’s 
requirements.  
 
· Currently the department is not consultant led and the staff are predominantly 

locums and doctors that are not on the London Deanery training programmes. 
The service is staffed currently to safe levels but the reliance on locums mean 
that this is not a safe way to manage the service in an on-going way. 

· NWLHT has highlighted that it is unable to staff the Emergency Unit with the 
appropriate grade of medical staff as they do not have the appropriate doctors to 
oversee and supervise the work.  

· Unplanned closure is a likely possibility on clinical safety grounds as the 
workforce is now preparing for change 

· Not implementing the CMH A&E closure is very likely to lead to system wide 
deterioration of performance, particularly over the winter months 

 
Further, in addition to the recommendation that the “changes to A&E at Central 
Middlesex and Hammersmith hospitals should be implemented as soon as 
practicable” the Independent Reconfiguration Panel advised that “commissioners and 
providers of acute hospital services across north west London must ensure that 
changes required to secure safety and quality for patients are made without delay”.  
 
 
4.4 Brent CCG assurance findings  
 
4.4.1 At its Governing Body meeting on 23rd July 2014, on behalf of all CCGs in North 

West London, Brent CCG assured itself that these changes are safe for Brent 
residents and the wider population of North West London (NWL) to be 

Page 22



21 | P a g e  
 

transitioned on 10th September 2014.  In support of this decision it was noted 
that: 

 
(i) Appropriate progress has been made at this time (mid-July) to support the 

planned closure date of 10 September - this is also supported by NHS 
England and NHS Trust Development Authority who are undertaking a joint 
assurance process alongside the CCG assurance process; 

 
(ii) NWLHT has undertaken modelling based on a “worst case” scenario in 

relation to the need for beds.  This provides a 19% contingency;  
incorporating learning from the closure of Chase Farm Hospital A&E 
department in December 2013 (which resulted in a post A&E closure spike 
in activity of 14%), providing an additional 5% contingency to that required 
for the Chase Farm closure; 

 
(iii) NWLHT, Brent CCG Governing Body and Harrow CCG Governing Body 

through their Chair noted the capacity and performance challenges at 
NPH. The implementation of the treat and transfer model of care, 
underpinned by the updated clinical model and the additional 22 Carroll 
Ward beds at NPH would produce a net benefit in bed capacity across 
NWLHT.  As a result performance would be maintained and improved.  In 
addition, NWLHT has undertaken modelling for the treat and transfer 
model of care, using the successfully implemented fractured neck of femur 
pathway which resulted in improved outcomes for patients, with quicker 
mobilisation and shorter hospital stays.  The CCG  was further assured 
that the proposed extension of the treat and transfer model for fractured 
neck of femur to suitable medical admissions was safer than the current 
regular divert of patients from Northwick Park to CMH due to bed 
shortages at Northwick Park.  Under the treat and transfer model, all 
medical admissions to Northwick Park would be admitted to Northwick 
Park and therefore have access to all specialist support and advice.  For 
those medical patients who required longer recovery from their acute 
episode of illness they would be transferred to medical wards at CMH with 
appropriate supporting services. 

 
(iv) All affected organisations (NWLHT, UCC at CMH, UCC at NPH, LAS, 

Imperial, Ealing Healthcare Trust, Royal Free) have confirmed their 
statement of readiness to support the planned closure - capacity and 
trained workforce is/will be in place.  The LAS had adequately assessed 
the impact of the closure of the CMH and Hammersmith A&E’s and would 
have additional ten staff in place so that there was no detriment to 
ambulance response times.  The UCC on the Care UK site was ready to 
meet the enhanced specification as a standalone UCC with extended staff 
training, recruitment of additional staff and embedding revised clinical 
pathways. 

 
(v) Brent local authority confirmed their involvement and support for this and 

the impact for them in terms of support for care packages, etc. 
 
 

Page 23



22 | P a g e  
 

(vi) Consolidating A&E staff onto the NPH site improves utilisation of resources 
and maintenance of skills and will result in improved patient experience at 
NPH 

 
(vii) An extensive communications programme has been developed that has 

included community led engagement delivered in conjunction with Brent 
CVS, Ealing CVS, H&F Community Groups and CITAS beginning on 28 
July, and includes support for engaging communities in ten different 
languages.  Patient and lay representatives have been involved in and are 
members of the monthly project board meetings, ensuring a patient focus 
in the delivery of the planned changes. 

 
(viii) The risks of delay were noted, in particular NWLHT’s inability to maintain a 

safe service at CMH through winter. By delivering the closure in a planned 
and co-ordinated manner the programme is mitigating the risk of an 
unplanned closure. 

 
(ix) Sufficient monitoring of processes will be put in place to respond to 

unexpected peaks in demand beyond the planned contingency.  These 
included daily and weekly mechanisms.  The A&E Closure Operations 
Executive will meet weekly for a least six weeks post closure.   

 

(x) The NW London wide Emergency Control Room will collect daily 
information from all NWL hospitals and update CCGs and GPs on any 
increasing pressures in the system so action can be taken. 

 
(xi) The A&E Closure Operations Executive will review multi-agency key 

performance contracts so any pressures in the system can be managed 
and performance at NWLHT and across NW London Hospitals can be 
maintained.  

 
(xii) The LAS had adequately assessed the impact of the closure of the CMH 

and Hammersmith A&E’s and would have additional ten staff in place so 
that there was no detriment to ambulance response times. 

 
(xiii) The UCC on the Care UK site was ready to meet the enhanced 

specification as a standalone UCC with extended staff training, recruitment 
of additional staff and embedding revised clinical pathways. 

 
The Brent CCG Governing Body was assured that the balance of risks meant that it 
was safer to close the CMH A&E on 10th September rather than keep the A&E open 
for longer. 
 
It was also noted that the Hammersmith and Fulham CCG had met the previous day 
(22nd July 2014) and had also confirmed it was assured that the balance of risks 
meant that it was safer to close the HH EU on 10th September rather than keep the 
EU open for longer. 
 
 

Page 24



23 | P a g e  
 

 
4.5 Next Steps 
 
4.5.1 The Shaping a healthier future programme will continue work with NW London 
CCGs, NWLHT, IHT, NHSE and NHS TDA to manage the closure of CMH A&E 
department and HH EU department on 10th September 2014.   
 
An Operational Executive will meet at least weekly in the lead up to and following the 
change, bringing together representatives of these parties to jointly assure readiness 
for change; proactively ensuring a rapid joint response to any risks or issues as they 
arise.  
 
Communication to stakeholders and public will continue from 28 th July to beyond the 
closure of the A&E department. 
 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



Assurance process for closure of Central 
Middlesex Hospital A&E  

and  
Transforming healthcare in Brent 

Brent Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
6 August 2014 

Appendix 1 

P
age 27



Background to Shaping a healthier future 

Localise 

1 

Centralise 

2 

Integrate 

3 

• Reduced admissions due to 
better local management of 
care 

• Improved support for 
patients with LTCs and 
mental health problems   

• Improved patient experience 
and satisfaction 

• Improved carer experience  

• Better clinical outcomes 
including reduced morbidity 
and mortality 

• Reduced readmission 

• Reduced lengths of stay  

• Increased staff training, skills 
and job satisfaction  

 

• Increased multidisciplinary 
working – improved coordination 

• Improved access to information 
leading to better patient care 

• Reduction in unnecessary 
investigations and duplicate 
assessments 

• Improved efficiency and pathways 

SaHF aligned with national BCF and integration programs 

P
age 28



Mount Vernon 

Harefield 

RNOH 

Hillingdon 

Northwick Park 

Ealing 

West Middlesex 

Central Middlesex 

Hammersmith 

Charing Cross 

St Mary’s 

Chelsea and  
Westminster 

Royal  
Brompton 

Royal Marsden 

Specialist hospital 

Local and Specialist hospital  
with obstetric - led maternity unit and  Urgent Care Centre (UCC) 

Local and Elective hospital with UCC 

Local and Major hospital with A&E and UCC 

Local hospital with A&E 

Local and Major hospital and  
specialist eye hospital and  
Hyper Acute Stroke Unit with A&E and UCC 

M 

M 

Reconfiguration of North West London hospitals 

P
age 29



Slide on Consultation & decision 
making on SAHF 

• To follow 

P
age 30



Brent Clinical Commissioning Group 

• 67 GP practices in Brent organised into five geographical 
locality groups to share service and best practice 

• Many GPs have lived and worked in Brent for many 
years – committed to improving the health of Brent 
residents 

• Our vision is to deliver better care, closer to people’s 
homes 

• Committed to working with patients, public and 
community in order to achieve this 

• Ensuring highest standards of clinical care and safety in 
the services we commission 
 

 

delete 

P
age 31



The case for change - pressures on the NHS 

• Population increasing 
• Growing elderly population requiring long term care 
• More people with long term conditions requiring 

treatment throughout their lifetime 
• Increasing cost of care, treatments and drugs 
• Need to maintain and improve clinical standards 
• NHS resources too thinly spread across North West 

London – need to create specialist centres of care 

 

delete 

P
age 32



Assurance process for closure of  
Central Middlesex Hospital A&E Unit P

age 33



Central Middlesex Hospital A&E unit 

• Shaping a Healthier Future recommendation to 
concentrate A&E services on fewer sites with more 
specialist staff and equipment – better care for people 
who are seriously ill.  

• Minor injuries treated at urgent care centres 
• A&E units at Central Middlesex Hospital and 

Hammersmith Hospital planned to close 10 
September 

• Numbers attending Central Middlesex Hospital have 
declined since unit is open only 12 hours a day 

• Full and detailed authorisation process by Brent and 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCGs to be sure clinically 
safe to do so 

P
age 34



Brent CCG’s assurance process 

• Review of clinical pathways by the clinical board 
• Confirmation of operational and capacity readiness by 

both Trusts 
• Both UCCs being commissioned as standalone 24/7 
• Delivery of a joint communications plan to inform public 

of closure and how to access unscheduled care 
• Satisfaction of CCGs, NHS England and Trust 

Development Authority of assurance processes 
• Development of a NWL system contingency response to 

the proposed A&E closures 

 

P
age 35



• Activity data for both Central Middlesex and Hammersmith shows that all NW London CCGs 
will be affected by service transitions - Brent CCG and Hammersmith and Fulham CCG will 
be affected more than others 

• Process has been developed so CCGs can assure themselves that they have all the 
information they require to be assured on the safe transition of services 

• CCG Collaboration Board agreed the following assurance arrangements: 
Ø Hammersmith & Fulham and Brent CCGs would undertake an assurance process as the lead 

commissioners for Hammersmith and Central Middlesex Hospitals, focussing on safety of care 
pathways  

AND 
Ø Hammersmith & Fulham and Brent CCG would undertake an assurance process as the lead 

commissioners for Northwick Park and St Mary’s (materially impacted receiving sites) on behalf of 
other CCGs focussing on capacity issues 

Ø All other CCG Governing Bodies would be informed of the assurance process that is being 
undertaken by Brent and H&F CCGs – for Harrow CCG a sequence of meetings has been agreed 
that aligns to the Brent CCG assurance process 

The clinical commissioning group assurance process 

P
age 36



CCG assurance questions address key delivery areas 

• Clinical Quality:  Are correct policies and agreed pathways in place 
for safe transition of services to requisite level of quality? 

• Operational and Capacity Planning:  Is the capacity available in 
receiving acute and OOH sites with agreed operational policies? 

• Workforce:  Is a suitably capable workforce in place for a safe 
transition? 

• Communications and engagement:  Has there been sufficient, 
patient and public engagement and is there a plan for this to 
continue? 

• Travel:  Have travel implications as a result of the reconfiguration 
been identified and addressed? 

P
age 37



CCG assurance questions address key delivery areas 

• Equalities:  Have equalities implications as a result of the 
reconfiguration been identified and addressed? 

• Finance:  Has due consideration been given to activity and 
financial implications of transition?  

• Emergency preparedness, resilience and response planning:  
Have statutory duties to prepare for responding to major incidents, 
and ensuring continuity of priority services been satisfied? 

• System assurance:  Have all affected organisations understood 
the change and are prepared to manage the transition?  

• Risk of non-closure: Have the risks of non-closure been 
addressed? 

P
age 38



CCGs completing assurance for 10 September 
 

Hammersmith 

CMH 

22 July* 
CCG 

assurance 
that HH EU 

can be safely 
closed 

23 July* 
CCG 

assurance 
that CMH  

A&E can be 
safely closed 

H&F CCG 

Brent CCG 

Agree the 
process for 

seeking 
assurance 

that HH EU 
can be safely 

closed 

H&F CCG 

Agree the 
process for 

seeking 
assurance 
that CMH 

A&E can be 
safely closed 

Brent CCG 

H&F CCG - Lead Commissioner for St Mary’s 
(receiving site) 

CCGs that are affected to a lesser 
extent 

Brent  (and Harrow) CCG – Lead Commissioner 
for Northwick Park 

H& F CCG - Lead Commissioner for St Mary’s 

ICHT 

EHT 

Trust 
confirmation 
of readiness 
for transition 

NWLHT 

EHT 

Trust 
confirmation 
of readiness 
for transition 

ICHT 

June July August September 

Service  
transition 

Service  
transition 

Readiness m
onitoring and 

delegated authority 
Readiness m

onitoring and 
delegated authority 

LAS 

NHS England and NTDA Review 

LAS 

CCGs that are affected to a lesser 
extent 

8 M
ay – CCG

 Collaboration Board to agree to the process and delegated 
responsibility for assurance to Brent and H

&
F CCG

s 

P
age 39



A&E public information programme 

• We want residents to know when the A&E will close, what services 
are available for urgent care at the site and what to do in an 
emergency 

• We need to: 
• reassure and not cause alarm. 
• raise awareness that the two A&Es are transitioning  
• ensure understanding that 24/7 UCCs remain on site 
• provide accessible and easy to understand information on the 

change 
• Focus group activity across Brent, H&F and Ealing has provided 

insight into the levels of understanding and needs of the general 
public 

• Make clear with bold, simple language what is happening, as soon 
as we can and to as many people as we can 
 
 

 

P
age 40



Advertising testing 

• Tested with a wide range of groups including operational staff, clinicians and 
lay partners 

• Independent market research company undertook research with the general 
public. 

• Four adverts tested. Three followed a similar creative but used a different 
word to describe what was happening: 
1. “Closing” 
2. “Changing” 
3. “Becoming” 

 
• The fourth used an alternative creative execution 
• A range of colours from the NHS colour palette were used 
• Alternative graphics were also tested 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 41



Three levels of messaging  

Level 1 – billboards, bus stop ads 

What is happening to the A&Es 
• When is it happening 
• UCC 24/7 at both sites to treat minor injuries and illnesses 
• Brief overview of what a UCC treats (bus stop only) 
• In emergency dial 999 

Level 2 – Print ads, door drop 

• As above plus: 
• More detail on when to go to a UCC 
• When to call an ambulance/go to an A&E 
• 111 

Level 3 – detailed activity - Leaflets, engagement materials, website 

• All the above plus: 
• Specific information relevant to particular group being engaged with. For example, specific 

to expert patients groups or communities. 
• What else is happening at the hospital 
• Why the changes are being made 

P
age 42



Campaign activity 

• The core public information campaign will occur across an area defined by data showing 
patient flow into the two A&Es 
 

• The campaign will include: 
 

• Website development 
• Outdoor & print advertising 
• Door drops 
• Leaflets and posters 
• Media activity 
• GP engagement 
• Staff engagement 
• Political & stakeholder engagement 

 
• The Equalities & Access workstream are engaging with community groups across the 

area to communicate with hard to reach groups 
• The Travel Advisory workstream are coordinating changes in road signage 

 
 

 

P
age 43



Activity – Information distribution 

• Two door drops to 285,000 properties within tier 1 geography will take 
place.   
1. NHS branded leaflet and letter to provide information on the change.   
2. Reminder that the A&E is now closed but the UCC is 24/7 

• Information in the form of either leaflets or posters distributed to key 
organisations: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• Letter will be sent to schools to distribute to parents ahead of the end of 

term in July. 
• A significant amount of information will be distributed through the work 

undertaken by the equalities workstream. 
 

 

• Council 
buildings 

• Libraries 
• GP surgeries 
• Hospitals 
• Taxi companies 

• Faith buildings 
• Colleges & 

universities 
• Pharmacies 
• Hairdressers 
• Police stations 

• Dentists 
• Hotels 
• Nursing homes 
• Community 

groups 

P
age 44



Advertising activity 

Proposed advertising includes: 
• Half page adverts in local papers 
• Full page advertorial in local papers (fortnight around 

closure) 
• 16 billboards 
• 81 panels on the inside of buses 
• 150 bus stop/stand alone street signs 
• 312,500 pharmacy bags 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 45



GP communications 

• Trusts & CCGs will use existing mechanisms to communicate directly 
with GPs but will work together to ensure messaging is aligned. 

• Communication to GPs includes: 
• Trust & CCG newsletters 
• Letter advising them of the changes that are forthcoming 
• Regular update letters updating on progress 
• Examples of the advertising materials 
• Materials sent directly to the surgery for patients as part of the 

wider public information campaign.  
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 46



Final design to be used across the advertising and public 
information campaign 

P
age 47



Final design for advertising and public 
information campaign 

P
age 48



Brent CCG’s transformation programme 

P
age 49



Brent CCG’s transformation programme 

Three elements to our 
transformation programme: 
• Shaping a healthier future: 

reconfiguring hospital care 
• Developing primary care: 

improving access to services in 
primary care including GP 
appointments 

• Whole systems integrated care: 
better integration of health and 
social care 
 

 All three elements closely interlinked and support each 
other 

P
age 50



Brent CCG’s transformation programme 

P
age 51



Shaping a healthier future: 
Developing Central Middlesex Hospital P

age 52



 
“Improved care of the highest quality for patients, carers and families, where integrated 
teams of health and social care professionals can work in a co-ordinated way, on a 
common platform, to improve patient experience and outcomes.”  

Intended 
Continuing 

Services 

Intended 
Additional 

Services 

Our vision for Central Middlesex Hospital 

P
age 53



Developing an outline business case to consider four key areas to allow 
evaluation of proposals: 

1. Clinical evaluation 
Quality of care, 
deliverability, research 
and education  
 

2. Estates, Workforce, 
Operational & Finance 
Analysis 
Affordability and value for 
money  

3. Equalities Analysis 
Impact on protected 
patient groups   

4. Transport Analysis 
Access to care and impact 
of changed patient 
journeys 

Developing Central Middlesex Hospital 

Working closely with patients, carers, community groups, clinicians, 
commissioners, providers and staff to develop the outline business 
case 

P
age 54



Develop effective 
clinical models for 
service areas 

Identify 
implications of 
clinical models  
(workforce, 
estates, 
operations)  

Develop 
operational 
model options to 
deliver clinical 
models  

Develop 
economic 
appraisal 
including the risks, 
costs and benefits 

Internally assure and externally 
approve the Outline Business Case 

Supporting engagement 
Ongoing engagement to support the design and review of identified options. This will include 
patients, communities, service providers, clinicians, health professionals and commissioners. 

Review identified service changes or 
adjustments and identify whether 
further consultation and engagement 
is required 

Ongoing appraisal of the risks and viability of the scheme 

July 2014 August 2014 September 2014 

Regular engagement with public and clinicians to 
help develop our new model 

P
age 55



2 kinds of engagement activities undertaken to 
support the development of new service models 

1. Open 
Open public forum delivered on 17/07/14 with 85 attending and wide circulation of 
invitations to both Brent, Harrow and Ealing organisations and communities.  
 

2. Targeted 
Engagement with identified key participants to best support the 
development of effective service models for each service area. This has 
included collaborative working sessions and co-design events hosted by 
key organisations. Those who are being engaged are:  

• Clinicians with subject expertise 

• Staff from effected services   

• Providers of effected services 

• Commissioners for service areas across Brent, Harrow and Ealing 

• Community groups who represent patient demographics to be effected by 
changes 

• Key patient groups (and patient representatives) to be effected 

 

P
age 56



Three major elements to the future hospital 

• Creation of a Brent Hub plus 

• Developing an elective orthopaedic centre 

• Improving mental health services 

 

P
age 57



• Deliver accessible, proactive and  
co-ordinated care for communities across Brent.  

• Bring together and integrate urgent care, primary care and 
community services with a wide range of outpatient 
services and diagnostics.  

• Support and enhance care delivered by Brent’s primary 
care and community based health and social care services.  

• Services tailored to the needs of Brent citizens.  

Our ambitions for Brent Hub Plus 

P
age 58



Key intentions for the Brent Hub Plus model 

• Develop and deliver a stand-alone urgent care centre for 
CMH:  Provide safe and effective care and link closely with local 
Accident and Emergency centres.  

• Grow existing offer to support co-ordination of care:  
especially for those with complex health and social care needs. 

• Offer a wide range of outpatient services:  Consultant-led 
services to complement community based services and enhance 
support for those with complex health and social conditions.  

• Create a community zone that will support a proactive 
approach to positive health and wellbeing:  Increase access 
to wellbeing information and educational opportunities to enable 
people to look after themselves and better connect them with 
voluntary, social care and health services. 

 

P
age 59



Key intentions for the Brent Hub Plus model 

• Support services with modern diagnostics:  Increase 
efficiency and effectiveness of access to diagnostics expertise, 
equipment and technology. 

• Deliver integrated rehabilitation + reablement services:  
Work with people to be supported back into the community and 
their homes after a stay at hospital. 

• Increase access to mental health advice and support:  
For people being supported by services at CMH. 

• Bring patients into the heart of planning their own ongoing 
care and help them to stay well in the community. 

P
age 60



• Create a world-class elective orthopaedic service from 
Central Middlesex hospital.  

• Put patient at the centre of the process to ensure the 
experience of procedures are fast and efficient.  

• Join up effectively with services based at other hospitals 
and within the community.  

• Deliver planned procedures for patients across Brent, 
Harrow and Ealing. 

 

Our ambitions for elective orthopaedic centre  

P
age 61



• Ensure that patients will be able to access the 
right services at the right time: have all the 
information they need to understand their referral. 

• Ensure that patients will be fully prepared for 
their surgery:  keep to minimum number of pre-
operative interactions with services and distances 
they have to travel to see their clinician.  

• Offer patients a coordinated and seamless 
service focused on their needs and outcomes 

• Ensure that patients will undergo surgery in a 
world-class facility: experiencing the highest 
standards of care and safety.  

 

Elective Orthopaedic Centre – key intentions 

P
age 62



• Ensure that services at CMH are fully integrated 
with community services: ease patient’s transition 
back home and enhancing their recovery 

• Offer easily accessible help and support to 
patients once back in the community 

• Support patients who require help with 
transportation: get them there and back from their 
procedures safely and efficiently 

Elective Orthopaedic Centre – key intentions 
 

P
age 63



• Relocate a range of mental health services 
from Park Royal Hospital to Central 
Middlesex 
 

• Develop services to enhance the quality of 
care 
 

• Create environments that improve the 
patient’s experience 

 

Our ambitions for Mental Health Services at CMH 

Which services? 

P
age 64



Develop an effective space and environment to enhance 
quality of care that meets our design principles: 

 

Key intentions for mental health services 
 

P
age 65



• Increase access to wider community support: 
service users supported within acute mental health 
assessment and treatment wards Increase  

• Enable more joined-up working to enhance 
rehabilitation: especially with community based 
support services and VCS 

• Enhance the support available for people to 
build their skills:  knowledge that improve their 
ability to best manage their own conditions 

• Enhance how people are assessed and 
supported:  develop the spaces and processes 
available in acute hospital settings  

 

Key intentions for the mental health services 

P
age 66



Develop effective 
clinical models for 
service areas 

Identify 
implications of 
clinical models  
(workforce, 
estates, 
operations)  

Develop 
operational 
model options to 
deliver clinical 
models  

Develop 
economic 
appraisal 
including the risks, 
costs and benefits 

Internally assure and externally 
approve the Outline Business Case 

Supporting engagement 
Ongoing engagement to support the design and review of identified options. This will include 
patients, communities, service providers, clinicians, health professionals and commissioners. 

Review identified service changes or 
adjustments and identify whether 
further consultation and engagement 
is required 

Ongoing appraisal of the risks and viability of the scheme 

July 2014 August 2014 September 2014 

Working with patients, carers, community groups, clinicians, 
commissioners, providers and staff to develop our proposals 

Developing our proposals in partnership 
 

P
age 67



Transforming primary care P
age 68



• GP practices working in networks to provide extended care for 
example through locality hubs providing additional GP 
appointments within 24 hours 7 days a week 

• Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund to help networks plan for 7 
day working providing urgent access within 4 hours and routine 
access within 48 hours and implement new capability for 
electronic access for patients eg on line consultations 

• Developing primary care that is coordinated, accessible, 
proactive and convenient 

• Developing hub centres for community services at CMH, 
Willesden and Wembley with two new additional in South 
Kilburn, Kingsbury and Central Middlesex Hospital 
 
 

 

 

Primary Care Transformation 

P
age 69



Integrating health and social care P
age 70



Integrating health and social care 

P
age 71



Four specific improvement programmes 

• Keeping the most vulnerable people well in 
the community 

• Avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions 
• Effective multi-agency hospital discharges 
• Improving mental health 

 

P
age 72



What will be different for patients as a result of 
transformation programme 

• Easier access to care:  More GP appointments and 
more services based in a community setting making it 
easier for patients to access care.  

• Improved patient experience & outcomes: Different 
service providers working together to provide integrated 
service to meet patients’ needs. 

• Higher standards of clinical care:  New clinical 
standards for hospital and out of hospital care will drive 
up care standards across all services.  

  

P
age 73



P
age 74

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
 

 

Scrutiny Committee 
6 August 2014 

Report from the Assistant Chief 
Executive 

  

For Information 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Brent CCG’s Transformation Programme for Health 
Services in Brent 

 
 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out Brent CCG’s plans to transform the way health care is 

provided in Brent.  The context for this proposal is the need to deliver care at 
a reduced cost while still achieving better patient outcomes. These plans are 
reflected in the CCG’s five year draft strategy which is intended to put in place 
more integrated and locally available services and reduce dependance on 
acute services. 

 
1.2 The three major transformational programmes are: 
 

• Shaping a healthier future – the reconfiguration of hospital services, and 
in particular developing the long term future of Central Middlesex 
Hospital; 

• Primary Care Transformation – making it easier to see your GP and 
making more treatments available in a community setting; and  

• Whole systems integrated care – joining together health and social care 
to provide more integrated health services to patients. 

 
The three programmes are closely interlinked, with many interdependencies.  
The intention is for hospitals to concentrate on providing  specialist services. 
Other services  will be provided in a community setting, which will require 
theexpansion of capacity in primary care, and a greater linkage between 
health and social care to ensure patients receive a more integrated and 
coordinated service which meets their health and social needs and prevents 
more acute interventions.   

 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 75



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
 2.1 The committee is recommended to question representatives on the viability of 

these transformation plans,  the timescale for their implementation, as well as 
on what contingency plans are in place in case any of the proposals turn out 
not to be possible or feasible.  In particular the committee is asked to consider 
the adequacy of proposals to expand capacity within primary care services. 
 
Contact Officers 
Ben Spinks 
Assistant Chief Executive 
ben.spinks@brent.gov.uk 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
Cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 76



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Brent overview and scrutiny committee meeting – 6 
August 2014 

Brent CCG’s transformational programmes for health 
services in Brent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 28 July, 2014  

Page 77



2 | P a g e  
 

  
Brent CCG’s transformational programmes to improve healthcare in 
Brent 
 
1. Introduction 
 
Brent CCG has ambitious plans to transform the way care is provided in Brent 
so that the patient receives the best possible treatment through high quality 
integrated care.   
 
The purpose of this report is to update the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on three major transformation programmes being pursued in Brent and 
involving local authorities and patients as partners. These plans are reflected 
in our five year draft strategy. These plans are designed and driven locally and 
with an increasing system leadership role from Brent’s Health and Wellbeing 
Board.  The paper should be read in conjunction with the separate report on 
the assurance process for the closure of the A&E unit at Central Middlesex.   
 
The background for these transformation programmes is that we aim to 
provide care at a lower cost and to achieve better outcomes.  
 
The three major transformational programmes are: 
 

· Primary Care Transformation – making it easier to see your GP and 
making more treatments available in a community setting;  

· Whole systems integrated care – joining together health and social 
services to provide person-centred care; and 

· Shaping a healthier future – the reconfiguration of hospital services, 
and in particular developing the long term future of Central Middlesex 
Hospital. 

 
The three programmes are closely interlinked, with many interdependencies.  
We want hospitals to concentrate on providing their specialist services, other 
services provided in a community setting which will require expanding 
capacity in primary care, and a greater linkage between health and social to 
ensure patients receive a more integrated and coordinated service which 
meets their health and social needs.   
 
The diagram below shows how the programmes covered in this paper fit 
together.   
 
There are additional transformation programmes that are not covered in this 
paper: 
 

(i) Mental health transformation - a whole system mental health and 
wellbeing strategic plan is currently under development  
 

(ii) Planned care – community based outpatients for ophthalmology and 
cardiology starting in Autumn 2014 and musculoskeletal and 
gynaecology servcies starting in late 2015.  

Page 78



3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

  
2. Transforming primary care 
 
2.1 The role of primary care 
 
Primary care, and in particular care delivered by general practitioners and 
practice nurses, is the cornerstone of the NHS healthcare system.  Good 
quality primary care is considered an essential feature of all cost-effective 
healthcare systems delivering improved outcomes at lower cost and with 
higher patient satisfaction 

Primary care provides universal and comprehensive access for all. It provides 
a holistic approach to an individual’s care, diagnoses and manages disease,  
prevents illness and protects health by promoting healthy behaviours, having 
a whole population focus. It is the first element of the continuing healthcare  
process and supports patients to navigate across multiple care providers and 
settings.  
 
As we reconfigure hospital services and look to provide more services in a 
community setting with more activity taking place outside of the hospital 
setting, primary care becomes increasingly important.   Brent CCG wants to 
increase the effectiveness and capacity of primary care in the borough, in 
order to provide all patients with: 
 

Page 79



4 | P a g e  
 

· Coordinated care – providing patient-centred, coordinated care and 
GP-patient continuity  

· Accessible care – providing a responsive, timely and accessible 
service that responds to different patient preferences and access 
needs 

· Proactive care – supporting the health and wellness of the population 
and keeping people healthy 

· Convenient care – provided at a range of centres, including some local 
GP centres and community settings 

 
Brent has 67 GP practices in the borough. Alongside but separate to the five 
localities that GPs work together in commissioning, the practices work in four 
networks on providing primary care. Moving towards delivering primary care in 
networks is best practice as: 
 

· Practices are constrained on providing additional services through lack 
of staff and space 

· Networks are more likely to be able to offer an extended range of 
services to patients that are high quality, cost effective and accessible.  

 
2.2 The Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund 
 
In April 2014 all CCGs across North West London were awarded financial 
support from the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund to support schemes to 
make it easier for patients to see their GP.  An additional £4m will come from 
GPs commissioning funds and money from Health Education North West 
London, making a total of £10m funding for the scheme. 
 
The money will be used to help GPs develop their networks in order to 
provide extended opening hours, weekend opening and better use of 
technology so there will be more opportunities for people to see their GPs 
when they feel unwell.  The fund will help networks plan to provide more 
diagnostics, clinics and services in GP practices and in partnership with other 
providers.  The fund is only available for one year and does not fund 
additional services. It funds capacity for networks to plan their network and 
provide IT capability to work together. 
 
Brent CCG has extended the hub network services until March 2017 that will 
allow patients to be seen within their practice or locality hub within 4 hours for 
urgent appointments and 48 hours for routine 7 days a week.  
 
Improved IT capability within practices includes:  
  

· Electronic prescriptions 
· Online patient booking 
· On line consultations and advice services 
· Text message reminders 
· Sharing clinical records for shared care plans and GP access services 

 

Page 80



5 | P a g e  
 

2.3 What will this mean for patients?  
 
The only service currently being provided within a network at this point are the 
GP locality hub services where patients can be seen by a nurse or GP within 
24 hours. Improving access for an episode of illness at a linked centre 
provides speedy access to the patient and can also allow practices to free up 
time to look after more long term patients. 
 
Providing services in a network either at another practice or in a centre e.g. 
Willesden, CMH or Wembley means that all patients can have access to such 
services as extended diabetic care. 
 
2.4 What engagement has there been with patients? 
 
The development of our primary care transformation programme had been 
informed by engagement across North West London and across the capital on 
what patients expect from primary care.   We wish to co-design 7 day working 
through networks with patients. We will expect GP networks to develop 
mechanisms to ensure patient participation.  Further work will be undertaken 
with patients and partners to publicise the availability and acceptability of GP 
appointments at the locality centres.   

3. Whole Systems Integrated Care Brent Early Adopter Project 

3.1 Introduction: why is integrated care important for Brent? 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board recently received an update on Brent’s draft 
outline plan for whole system integration. The plan will be finalised by October 
2014. This section provides a summary of the progress to date.  

Page 81



6 | P a g e  
 

Integrated care is about joining up all health and social care services service 
users may receive to ensure they experience it as one seamless service, with 
their needs placed at the centre. 

This will particularly make a big difference for people with long term 
conditions, who require regular treatment and support to better manage their 
conditions themselves. For the frail and elderly easy access to joined-up 
services is especially important, and being treated in their home and avoiding 
emergency admissions can have a significant impact on their quality of life as 
well as their health and wellbeing. It will also have important implications for 
the provision of services in increasingly challenging financial circumstances; 
as the elderly incur the majority of their lifetime health and social care costs in 
the last years of their life, avoiding admissions and introducing interventions 
so patients are less likely to require emergency care will deliver savings to the 
health and care system. 

Brent CCG, Brent Council and Local Providers therefore want to create a 
health and social care system that is truly joined-up so that people receive the 
right care and support at the right time, and in the right place. Creating a more 
efficient and seamless system built around the individual will improve the 
outcomes and experience of care for people who use these services.  

By better integrating care, patients and carers will: 

· understand and know how to access services available to them 

· be involved in developing and managing their own care plans 

· have a single care plan that can be used by them and the professionals 
who look after them. 

Integrating care is about helping patients have control over the care they 
receive, and ensuring services providers work together to provide it. 

Brent CCG successfully applied with Brent Council, NWL CCGs, providers 
and other councils to become one of 14 Pioneer sites in England for whole 
system integrated care.  An Integration Board reporting to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board has recently been established to work up the operational 
detail for the Better Care Fund plan, revised Integrated Care Pilot for all 
practices and Whole System Integrated Care plan. Whole systems integrated 
care will build on the Integrated Care Pilot 2 and the initiatives in Better Care 
Fund but will have the added components for those GP networks and 
providers. 

The Outline Plan detailing the Brent WSIC Vision, built on the good practice 
modelled in the first phase of the WSIC, and was coproduced through a series 
of workshops involving a wide range service users, clinicians and lay partners. 
  

Page 82



7 | P a g e  
 

3.2 Developing our vision for integrated care  

The WSIC vision puts the patient’s or service user’s needs at the heart of the 
design and delivery of our health and social care services. Whole Systems 
Integrated Care will remove the barriers and obstacles to meeting the 
patient’s needs and coordinate delivery of their care through multi-disciplinary 
teams and through the introduction of ‘care coordinators’.  

An overview of the Brent Vision is provided in the following diagram: 

 
 

The patient or service user will be fundamentally central to the provision of 
services. Around the service user are arrayed four key overarching aspects to 
the WSIC Vision:  

a. Self-Care Management,  

b. Joined-up Seamless Services Coordinated around the Individual,  

c. Provision of Care in the Most Appropriate Setting,  

d. Fluid and Dynamic Resource Allocation to ensure investment is 
made where most appropriate for patient-centred care. 

The Early Adopter project will initially focus on delivering whole systems 
integrated care for over 75s with one or more long-term conditions and are 
registered with a Harness or Kilburn GP. This equates to approximately 6500 

Page 83



8 | P a g e  
 

registered patients, which experience suggests is the good number for an 
initial pilot.  

Further work is underway to better understand the characteristics of this 
group; for example, analysis is being undertaken or is planned to be 
undertaken to evaluate the key care pathways currently used to navigate the 
provision of services. We are currently mapping the current landscape of 
services and support across all sectors to describe and understand their 
accessibility and settings.  

Through this analysis of the current health and social care landscape we aim 
to better understand the gaps and challenges in services, and the potential 
obstacles and risks to developing whole systems integrated care services. 
This analysis will contribute to our understanding of the necessary 
interventions and levers required to deliver the WSIC vision. It will also 
deepen our understanding of the implications and impact of the WSIC Vision. 
This vision will develop and evolve as the detail of the Model of Care emerges 
and new patient pathways are developed to capitalise on innovations in self-
care management, primary care services, and new treatments in community 
settings and in the patient's own home. 

3.3 Developing our new model of care  

The WSIC Vision will be updated and set out in greater clarity in the final draft 
of the Implementation Plan. It will provide the framework in which the new 
Model of Care will be described and navigated. Work is commencing to flesh 
out the Model of Care, plot the pathways and describe the interventions which 
will deliver the Vision. The Model of Care will embody key principles that 
together will govern the approach to delivering whole systems integration.  

For example, where appropriate we will respond proactively so patients have 
the information, choice and control to manage their care to best meet their 
needs. Through the early adopter WSIC work patients will feel empowered 
and given the support to better manage their own treatment. 

But where a patient requires treatment in a health setting we will respond 
reactively with rapid and timely interventions to deliver seamless patient-
centred care; our aim is to keep people well, as long as possible in their 
homes and in their communities but be there to provide urgent care when they 
need this. 

To deliver the above ambitions it has been determined that the Brent model of 
care should include 4 evidence based principles: 

1. A Collaborative Multi-Disciplinary Team structure 

2. Care Coordination 

3. Self-Management by the Patient 

4. A Single Shared Care Plan 

In addition to this the Brent local vision has developed emerging principles to 
govern integrated care models that are developed. These include: 

· Jointly commissioning for quality of life and independence outcomes 

Page 84



9 | P a g e  
 

· Single point of access to health and social care services 

· Single named coordinator/lead professional– who is best placed to care for 
patients 

· Single care coordination approach that is holistic and person centred to 
empower and enable independence, dignity and quality of life 

· Shared information and patient registration to maximize wellbeing and 
user experience 

· Removal of professional and institutional barriers 

· Network led to ensure equity of access and care 

· Consistency and continuity of 24/7 across health and care 

· Supporting carers to care and improve patient experience 

To illustrate how the proposed changes will make things different for the 
patient, consider how in the current set-up your GP will not help patients with 
non-health issues, and instead is likely to direct you to social services or the 
voluntary sector. This leaves the patient with the job of finding out the relevant 
contact and help they need; a responsibility that not all patients are capable of 
fulfilling. In the future, adult social services and Age UK would be part of the 
multi-disciplinary Locality Team.  They would all have joint responsibility and 
would be working together. 

There would not only be better understanding of what is available (avoiding 
unnecessary referrals), but they could also make direct referrals, direct to 
another member of the Locality Team who would help immediately. All of 
these professionals would be working together on a daily basis and they 
would be identifying the gaps in services and support, and would work 
together to commission what was needed locally based on a shared 
understanding of the gaps, and a shared understanding of the impact – the 
impact it would have on the wellbeing of the people they support, and the 
impact it would have on the budget available to the locali ty team for its 
population. 

A fundamental part of the Early Adopter process is the idea of a ‘capitated 
budget’.  This means the Locality would know how much money it has to 
spend on its population across all services, and could then make decisions 
about where to spend money, which services and support would make the 
greatest difference, rather than at the moment where different organisations 
are focus on their organization outcomes and spend money according to 
those organisational priorities.   

In addition, the care coordinator role in the Locality Team would have a more 
explicit role in accessing support outside of the Locality Team that would have 
a significant impact on an individual’s wellbeing.  For example, there are no 
plans for Housing to be part of the Locality Team, but we know that Housing 
has a major impact on people’s wellbeing. Therefore, there is an expectation 
that the Locality Team would have strong links with Housing and the Care 
Coordinators would help people to navigate the housing system to find 
solutions.  They would help them to understand what may or may not be on 

Page 85



10 | P a g e  
 

offer, and help them to access what is on offer, rather than just saying ‘you 
will need to speak to housing’.  

The success of the Model of Care will be evaluated through the measurement 
of key outcomes and key performance indicators. Central to this evaluation 
will be quality of life outcomes.  Measures of quality of life are the best 
indicators of service-user priorities; improvement in these outcomes will 
denote improvement in service-users' quality of life and as a result service-
user satisfaction. Improvement will therefore demonstrate we have delivered 
the WSIC Vision and contributed towards the delivery of key Health and Well-
being ambitions. 

The ultimate aim of whole systems integration is to improve patient’s quality of 
life. Whilst we are planning further work to develop patient related outcomes, 
initial engagement shows that for over 75s quality of life means: 

a. Living independently 

b. Meeting personal goals 

c. Being at home 

d. Feeling safe 

e. Having enough to eat  

f. Opportunities to maintain choices 

g. Feeling in control 

h. Ability to direct support 

i. Being listened to 

j. Not feeling isolated 

Success will also be measured by performance and professional related 
outcomes and in particular financial savings. Whole systems integrated care 
will provide patient-centred seamless care in settings convenient to the patient 
and which will deliver the best clinical outcomes. In practice this means 
planned care, reductions in expensive emergency admissions, reductions in 
avoidable admissions and readmissions, and the transfer of treatments from 
secondary care to primary care resulting in reduced bed-days and length of 
stay.  

Whilst the primary objective of WSIC is improvement in patient related 
outcomes, the impact of the implementing the new Model of Care will be a 
reduction in costs for both health and social care services. Further work is 
required to evaluate costs associated with the new Model of Care and plan 
the realisation of benefits to the patient and to organisations along the care 
pathway. Once the Model of Care has been developed and costs associated 
with its interventions have been mapped, we will understand the relative 
affordability of the WSIC Early Adopter Project in comparison to the current 
care landscape for the target patient cohort.  

3.4 Next steps and further engagement 

The next phase of 'Implementation Planning' continues our journey of 
engagement and coproduction. We reiterate our local commitment to finding 

Page 86



11 | P a g e  
 

and using representation from grassroots organisations and lay members, 
including the general public. We wish to engage a diverse wide range of 
people whose views are representative of all the local issues faced by 
service-users in Brent. 

There will be a number of opportunities to engage with the coproduction of the 
Implementation Plan and particularly the development of the new Model of 
Care. We will be implementing the necessary structures and processes to 
ensure alignment of all Brent engagement work and to ensure adequate 
communication of progress, including regular updates on key programmes of 
work. This will include updates on WSIC Early Adopter Phase 2 
Implementation Planning for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee where 
appropriate. 

To ensure the Vision and Model of Care fit within the broader aims of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and within the wider transformation agenda in 
Brent and NW London, including the Better Care Fund, it is proposed that a 
final draft of the WSIC Brent Early Adopter Implementation Plan will be 
submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board to explain the Vision, the Model 
of Care and the outcomes chosen to measure success. 
 

4. Shaping a healthier future – developing Central Middlesex Hospital 

 

4.1 Background and Context 

With the agreement to implement Shaping a Healthier Future (SaHF) and the 
change in services that sees Central Middlesex Hospital (CMH) become a 
Local and Elective hospital, we now have the opportunity to redefine and 
transform how care is provided on this important site for Brent residents. 

As a local and elective hospital defined by SaHF, the services delivered at 
Central Middlesex Hospital are to include a 24/7 Urgent Care Centre (UCC), 
outpatients services, diagnostics, elective services and primary care. 

We have done further work in how we can build on these services to offer a 
wider variety of services, ensuring that we are fully utilising what is some of 
our best NHS estate within North West London. 

This additional work resulted in a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) being created 
for CMH which would offer additional services on site such as an; Elective 
orthopaedics centre, Mental health inpatient facility, primary care ‘hub’ and 
genetics laboratory (see section 2.3): 

The SOC also considered which services may benefit by being co-located on 
the CMH site, which the rehabilitation beds currently located at Willesden 
have been considered. 

We are currently developing an Outline Business Case (OBC) which builds 
much greater detail to scoping all of these services, including their layout 
within the site, how they would operate, staffing requirements and costs. 

 

4.2 Proposals and Impact for Patients 

Page 87



12 | P a g e  
 

The intention is that a range of additional services will be provided at the CMH 
site to fully utilise this facility for the benefit of Brent and the NWL wide 
population, ensuring the long term clinically viable and financially sustainable 
future of the CMH site. 

A Strategic Outline Case (SOC) was developed during 2013 and 
subsequently approved by the required boards in 2014.  A SOC is a very 
preliminary assessment of costs, benefits, risks and funding and affordability 
and this was the first and initial step that was taken to scope a range of 
services that could be provided at CMH. 

We are now developing an Outline Business Case (OBC) that builds upon the 
initial proposals and work undertaken in the SOC to further refine and develop 
the range of services at CMH.  The OBC will provide more detailed 
development of the services than is contained in the SOC which will allow a 
more accurate costing of the services and ensuring clinical and financial 
viability. 

During the SOC stage there were a range of stakeholder engagement 
activities including a workshop on 14 January and a public engagement 
meeting on 19 February.  

As part of the SOC, travel analysis on affected patient/carer journeys was 
undertaken on the range of services affected.  This analysis showed that there 
are no significant impacts that would prevent the inclusion of the range of 
services being considered for CMH. Similarly, equalities impact consideration 
highlighted no significant impacts that would prevent the range of services 
being progressed. Further equalities and travel impact analysis is now being 
undertaken for those services that are being progressed at the OBC stage.   

 

4.3 Proposed range of additional services being developed: 

· Hub Plus for Brent – providing an extended range of community based 
services for Brent residents including primary care (GP services), out-
patient appointments, diagnostics, community services and the 
relocation of the rehabilitation beds from Willesden Centre for Health 

· Elective Orthopaedic Centre for NWLHT, Ealing and Imperial Trusts 

· Relocation of mental health services from Park Royal 

· Relocation of regional genetics service from Northwick Park Hospital 

Page 88



13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
4.4 Engagement/consultation considerations for services planned to be 
sited at CMH 

Following patient and public engagement during development of the SOC, 
further appropriate patient and public engagement has been undertaken 
during June and July in developing the additional services at CMH. 

The patient engagement element of this programme has been developed in 
collaboration with the patient representative members of the Partnership 
Board (which meets regularly to ensure this programme is appropriately 
governed and that key decision can be made to ensure it is making 
appropriate progress).  An engagement matrix has been developed to ensure 
that appropriate engagement is being conducted for the key service 
developments.  The matrix is being used to track and review the engagement 
activities undertaken during the OBC development and will be further used to 
specify any on going engagement and consultation 
requirements necessary on completion of the OBC to meet health and care 
legislation.  

A public engagement event took place on 17th July in Brent which was well 
attended and gave patients and the public an opportunity to hear about the 
proposals being considered for CMH and to help us further develop and refine 
the options.  These options will undergo further engagement until they are 
well enough defined for the OBC.   

It is noted that the majority of the proposed changes have already been 
subject to formal stakeholder consultation as part of Shaping a Healthier 
Future (SaHF). 
 
4.5 Details of the proposed additional services 
 
(i) Brent Hub Plus providing an extended range of community based 
services for Brent residents 

Intended Continuing ServicesIntended Additional Services

Page 89



14 | P a g e  
 

This was proposed within SaHF and therefore formal stakeholder consultation 
has already been undertaken.  This included primary care (c. 7,500 list size), 
community and Out of Hospital services, including access to diagnostics that 
were intended to be sited at Central Middlesex Hospital, and the intention to 
work up these plans with appropriate patient and public engagement in the 
co-design to provide a positive impact. 

This proposal includes up to c. 167,000 out-patient appointments being 
provided from CMH and would result in the majority of Brent residents 
attending CMH for their out-patient appointments.  As services will be co-
located this will provide patients with the opportunity to receive a wider range 
of services from a single site and having the opportunity to organise 
appointments as a one stop service, reducing the need for multiple visits.   

The relocation of rehabilitation beds (c. 40) and community services from 
Willesden Centre for Health to CMH was not addressed within SaHF.  The 
clinical review identified a positive impact for patients on co-locating the 
rehabilitation beds on the CMH site due to it being sited with a wider range of 
services and support.  The relocation from Willesden to CMH is a distance of 
2 miles. 

Travel analysis on affected patient/carer journeys was undertaken at SOC 
stage and overall it suggested that there are no significant impacts that would 
prevent relocation of the rehabilitation beds from Willesden.  It is however 
noted that this would provide both positive and negative travel impacts for 
some patients and their carers dependent on where they live in the borough.  
CMH has good public transport links and it also benefits from ample and 
increased parking facilities compared to Willesden (which has very limited 
availability of parking both on site and in the vicinity).  Patients requiring 
rehabilitation services are usually transported to the service via hospital 
transport services so there would be little impact for the patients being 
transported to CMH instead of Willesden.  The main travel impact would be on 
carers or family in visiting patients at the CMH site. 

Brent CCG would welcome the view of Brent OSC on the possible relocation 
of the rehabilitation beds from Willesden Centre for Health to CMH so that 
should this option be assessed as viable and approved at OBC stage, that 
any further engagement and consultation requirements can be built into the 
development timeline. 

The community services moving from Willesden relates to the staffing 
required to deliver the rehabilitation services as well as some other teams that 
provide outreach services to the population, for example; district nurses and 
health visitors who will continue to see patients in their usual care settings i.e.: 
at home/at GP practices and at health centres.   

(ii) Elective Orthopaedic Centre for NWLHT, Ealing and Imperial Trusts 
(c. 5,000 procedures). 
An Elective service was proposed within SaHF proposals.  This included the 
intention to undertake elective activity at Central Middlesex Hospital and the 
intention to work up these plans with appropriate patient and public 
engagement in the co-design of such services to provide a positive impact.  It 
is noted that this engagement will need to be as wide as possible to include 

Page 90



15 | P a g e  
 

patients from further afield than Brent.  The recent engagement event on 17th 
July included stakeholder and patient representatives from across Brent, 
Harrow, Ealing and Hammersmith & Fulham.  The clinical review identified a 
positive impact for patients on setting up a dedicated centre for elective 
orthopaedic procedures that will bring about improved patient outcomes 
including reduced length of stay in hospital, lower infection and complication 
rates and higher patient satisfaction due to it being a single speciality service.   
 
(iii) Transfer of local mental health services from adjacent Park Royal 
Site (4 Wards/all inpatient services excluding low secure services are 
considered as appropriate to be located at CMH and are being explored 
including mother and baby unit) 
This option was not addressed within SaHF.  However, the Park Royal site is 
adjacent to the Central Middlesex Hospital site.  The Park Royal site estate 
requires significant redevelopment, and as a result investment to achieve 
current estates standards. Considering its relocation within the Central 
Middlesex Hospital site would bring improvements in its infrastructure and a 
respective benefit for patients and service providers working in updated 
facilities.  Commissioners are supportive of its relocation.  The relocation from 
an adjacent site would have no negative impact to the patient and in fact the 
clinical review identified a positive impact for patients in providing services 
from facilities that reach best standards, thus reducing risk and optimising 
care.   

(iv) Relocation of genetics from Northwick Park Hospital 
This option was not addressed within SaHF.  However, this is a laboratory 
service.  Patients are seen across multiple healthcare sites for their outpatient 
appointments and this will not change as a result of relocation of the 
laboratory services.  The clinical review identified a positive impact in allowing 
Northwick Park Hospital to develop and expand other services at the 
Northwick Park Hospital site.   
 

4.6 Patient Engagement and Consultation 

A further public engagement event is planned and will be scheduled at the 
appropriate time.  In the meantime, further patient and public engagement will 
continue during the refinement of the options and before any decisions are 
taken on the relocation of services.   

 
4.7 Importance of Decisions 

The relocation of rehabilitation beds from Willesden to CMH increases under-
utilisation at Willesden Centre for Health and would result in increased costs 
to Brent CCG who holds the head lease for the site.  The potential cost to 
Brent CCG of increasing empty space at Willesden and the requirement to 
subsidise rental costs for new services at both CMH and Willesden is high. 
The CMH site currently runs at an annual loss of £10.8M and the impact of 
moving services from Willesden adds a further c. £2m cost at Willesden to 
Brent CCG. Brent CCG is pursuing a number of initiatives to mitigate these 
potential increased costs, in partnership with NWL CCGs and providers as we 
expect the pressure to be absorbed across a number of organisations. The 

Page 91



16 | P a g e  
 

future decisions on CMH and Willesden have major service and financial 
considerations for Brent CCG and residents for many years to come. 

 
4.8 Next Steps 
 
The OBC is being developed with stakeholder engagement across Brent and 
wider North West London for three elements of the OBC: Hub Plus for Brent, 
Elective Orthopaedic Centre and relocation of mental health services from 
Park Royal site.   
 

Throughout the OBC process Brent CCG has and will engage with 
stakeholders and patients and public representatives to ensure that plans for 
services are tailored to the local population and an effective outcome for 
patients is achieved. We would welcome views of Brent HOSC on the 
services being considered for CMH, and support and advice on 
engagement in this process.  In particular, a view on the possible 
relocation of the rehabilitation beds from Willesden Centre for Health to 
CMH is sought so that should this option be assessed as viable, that 
any further engagement and consultation requirements can be built into 
the timeline. 

The OBC will go through a formal approvals process through the affected 
statutory organisations, in the same way as was undertaken for the SOC 
approvals process.   
 
Timeline for completion of OBC 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 92



Call in of Cabinet decisions from the meeting of the Cabinet held on 21 July 
2014 
 
Decisions made by the Cabinet on 21 July 2014 in respect of the following report 
below were called in for consideration by the Scrutiny Committee in accordance with 
Standing Orders. 
 
Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections 
 
The decisions made by the Cabinet were: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that approval be given to increasing the frequency of the dry recycling service 

to a weekly service; 
(ii) that approval be given to the extension of the separate food waste collection 

service to all street level properties; 
(iii)  that approval be given to the introduction of a chargeable garden waste 

collection service as the means of facilitating these improvements as set out 
and detailed in section 4 of the report; 

(iv) that the financial and non-financial benefits that will accrue from these 
changes be noted; 

(v) that approval be given to the amendment to the Public Realm Contract and 
the minor changes to the contract targets to allow these proposals to go 
ahead. 

 
 
Whilst not opposing the principle of charging for garden waste, members felt 
consider that the system proposed could be improved on. 
 
There was concern at the absence of crucial information in the report including: 
 
o a proper analysis of options available to the council 
o consideration of up front payment (covering collection and disposal) for recycling 

bags rather than an annual charge 
o clear financial information regarding risk/gain to Brent Council and Veolia  
o information about market research undertaken with residents on options likely to 

achieve good recycling rates 
o how Brent can seek reciprocal arrangements with neighbouring authorities so 

increasing drop off points. The only site proposed in the report is at Abbey Road 
o learning from other local authorities 
o contamination of dry recycling/kitchen waste 
o monitoring and enforcement 
o communication with residents. 
 
An outline of the suggested course of action of the Scrutiny Committee is to: 
 
o seek a report responding to the concerns outlined above 
o question lead member and senior officers and the leader 

Agenda Item 7

Page 93



o if necessary, set up a very brief task finish group to examine these issues in more 
depth. 
 

Additionally, reference was made to residents’ concerns about the charge and the 
implications. Further clarification was requested on: 
 
o the way the decision was made 
o what would have changed within a year of a new contract, to justify such big 

change or adjustment 
o the framework is in place for monitoring and reporting 
o the financial implications for the council in relation to the scheme. 
 
 
Whilst not opposing the principle of charging for garden waste, additional concerns 
were expressed at the absence of crucial information in the report including the 
failure to: 
 
o demonstrate VFM (value for money) 
o show financial information containing savings from decommissioning existing 

garden waste service 
o give financial information regarding risk/gain to Brent Council and Veolia 
o model other alternatives, available to the Brent Council and consider their 

financial and environmental impact. 
 
Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 
 
o seek a report responding to the concerns outlined above  
o question lead member and senior officers   
o if necessary, set up a task group to examine these issues in more depth to 

ensure VFM. 
 
Finally, representations expressed the concern that a flat fee was regressive, and 
referred to lobbying by the Mapesbury Gardening Group, environmental groups and 
local residents. The main concern was that the arrangement may not represent value 
for money once scenarios for unintended consequences were included in the model. 
 
Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 
 
o invite the Lead Member, the Leader and appropriate officers to address these 

issues. 

Page 94



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

 

  

 
Cabinet 

21 July 2014 
 

Strategic Director, Environment and 
Neighbourhoods 

 

 
              Wards affected: 

   ALL 

Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections 

 
 

1.0        Summary 
 

1.1 This report presents a proposal to reduce the amount of waste generated by 
Brent residents and to deliver £378,000 financial savings. This will be done by 
increasing the frequency of the dry recycling service and by extending the 
coverage of the weekly separate food waste collection service. It is intended 
these improvements will be made possible by implementing a new ‘opt in’ 
chargeable garden waste collection service.  These proposals will improve 
and extend the council’s recycling offer and reduce the amount of waste 
generated overall. They would also abide by the national waste hierarchy, 
which recognises prevention of all waste and the recycling of food waste as 
having the best environmental impacts with regard to waste management.  

 
 2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Cabinet approves increasing the frequency of the dry recycling 
service to a weekly service. 

 
2.2 That the Cabinet approves the extension of the separate food waste collection 

service to all street level properties. 
 
2.3  That the Cabinet approves the introduction of a chargeable garden waste 

collection service as the means of facilitating these improvements as set out 
and detailed in section 4 of this report.” 

 
2.4 That the Cabinet note the financial and non-financial benefits that will accrue 

from these changes. 
  
2.5 That the Cabinet agrees the amendment to the Public Realm Contract and the 

minor changes to the contract targets to allow these proposals to go ahead.  
 
 

Page 95



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

 
 
3.0 Detail 
 
3.1  Background 
 
3.1.1 The UK’s waste hierarchy sets out five steps for dealing with waste ranked 

according to environmental impact.  Waste prevention (reduction), which 
offers the best outcomes for the environment, is at the top of the hierarchy 
followed by re-use and then recycling.  The EU’s revised Waste Framework 
Directive creates a legal imperative for Councils to take account of the waste 
hierarchy, having been transposed into UK law through the  Waste (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Public Realm contract is specifically 
engineered to focus on reducing waste.   

 

1 
3.1.3 In addition to these environmental imperatives, Brent Council, like many local 

authorities faces a serious financial situation.  The council’s position is such 
that it faces a budget shortfall of £53m by 2016-17. It is imperative that the 
council facilitates better waste reduction and improves recycling in ways that 
are financially sustainable and to an extent that achieves financial savings.  

  
3.2  Current situation 
 
3.2.1  The council currently provides an alternate weekly collection of dry recycling 

and refuse. This means dry recycling is collected every two weeks. The 
council has provided a free weekly garden waste collection service to around 
60,000 households since 2005. The service is provided by Veolia using 240L 
wheeled bins for the mixed collection of garden waste and food waste.  

 
3.2.2 In addition, and in order to encourage waste reduction, householders can 

currently benefit from heavily subsidised home compost bins, priced at £19.98 
plus £5.49 for delivery of a 220 litre bin and £22.98 plus £5.49 delivery for a 
330 litre bin.  This compares to £40 plus £5 for delivery for a 330 litre bin at 

                                            
1  www.wrap.org.uk 

Page 96



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

B&Q.  Residents can also take garden waste free of charge to the Household 
Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) in the borough free of charge. 

 
3.3  New proposals for managing recycling and green waste 
  
3.3.1 Taking into account the need to deliver financial savings, to reduce the overall 

amount of waste produced in Brent and to encourage environmentally 
sustainable behaviour, the proposal is to increase the frequency of dry 
recycling collections and to extend separate food waste recycling collections 
to all street level properties. This will be made possible by changing the 
garden waste service to a paid for/opt in service. These changes would take 
effect from March 2015. The new weekly dry recycling and food waste 
collections would start from then. The new chargeable garden waste service 
would run fortnightly from 1 March to 30 November and monthly from 1 
December to 28 February, as much less green waste is produced at that time 
of year.  The collection days for garden waste may change and this will be 
communicated to those residents that sign up. 

 
3.3.2 The main improvements that are proposed are set out below:  

• The alternate weekly co-mingled dry recycling service will be replaced 
with a better, weekly service, using the 240L blue-lidded bins already in 
place.   This will encourage additional recycling.  The day of the 
collection will remain the same as it is currently – but on a weekly 
basis.  Houses on the North Circular Road will be provided with 
hessian sacks that will be emptied weekly.   

• The food waste service will remain weekly but will be made available to 
all street level households.  Each household will be supplied with a 23L 
caddy to present for collection each week.  The day of the collection 
will remain the same. 

• New vehicles with split compartments will collect both dry recycling and 
food waste at the same time, meaning fewer vehicles are needed 
overall. 

• Residual waste collections will be unaffected and the day of the 
collection will remain the same.  

• The existing green waste collection service will have food waste 
removed and will be for garden waste only. It will become an opt in, 
chargeable service. 

• The council’s waste policy would be amended to exclude garden waste 
from the residual waste bin. This would need to be strictly enforced by 
Veolia and the Council’s Waste Enforcement Team. 

• More frequent waste collections are also likely to reduce the amount of 
waste that is fly-tipped in Brent. 

 
4.0  Garden Waste Charging 
  
4.1 These improvements to the recycling services can only be made possible by 

ensuring separate provision for food waste and by introducing a new charge 
for the garden waste-only service. Officers have investigated how charging for 
garden waste can be implemented. 

 

Page 97



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

4.2 30 of the 32 London Boroughs provide a garden waste collection service. Of 
these, 17 fully or partly charge for the service. Thirteen make no charge. A 
survey of these boroughs highlighted a range of charges for a garden waste 
service from £35 to £75 for a 240L wheeled bin per year (for detail, see 
Appendix 2).  Bearing in mind the results of this and the Equalities Impact 
Assessment, it is suggested that the fee is set at the lower end of the range - 
£40 a year per household which equates to less than 80p a week.  The 
charge of £40 a year is in line with the charge in Ealing.  The service will be 
discounted by 20% for those in receipt of means tested benefits including 
housing or council tax benefit, Job Seekers Allowance, Income Support and 
Pension Credit.  Residents will be able to pay online and by phone 

 
4.3 To make it happen, Veolia would manage the new chargeable garden waste 

service according to the following parameters: 
 

• Residents may share bins for garden waste (where a primary address to 
invoice is agreed). 

• Residents may opt to have more than one garden waste bin, at an 
additional cost. Garden waste will only be taken if it presented in the bin. 
We will not take ‘side waste’. 

• If residents lose their bin it will be charged in accordance with the current 
arrangements for residual waste bins, where the resident pays £46.08 for 
a new bin and delivery. 

• The service will be administrated by Veolia who will be responsible for 
billing and payment collection and managing the participant database to 
ensure that collections are made only from those households that 
subscribe. 

• Residents who would prefer not to subscribe will have their 240L bin 
removed. 

 
5.0  Timetable for service changes 
  
5.1   The timetable has been planned to minimise any unnecessary inconvenience 

to residents.  The timetable below means that residents will continue to 
receive a green waste service during the peak months of 2014 and Veolia will 
be able to remove the unwanted garden waste bins during the least 
productive months.  The proposed timelines for the service change are as 
follows: 

 
• Extensive communication with residents will start in July 2014. This will 

explain the new service improvements and will promote the council’s 
subsidised home composting bin and the option of using the council’s 
Recycling Centre at Abbey Road, where garden waste can be deposited 
free of charge.   

• Residents are asked to sign up and pay for the new garden waste service 
by 30 November 2014.  The payment will cover the year starting on 3 
March 2015, so the period from 1 December-28 February is free of charge.   

• The current mixed green and food collections will be phased out during 
that period and where a household doesn’t sign up by 30 November, their 
240L garden bins will be collected and a new food waste container will be 
delivered at the same time.   

Page 98



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

• All food waste containers will be issued to all street level households 
before March. 

• If a resident decides they want to join the service after their bin has been 
removed they will need to pay for a new bin. 

• The weekly dry recycling collection service starts on 3 March 2015 
• The new separate food waste service starts on 3 March 2015 
• The chargeable garden waste service starts formally on 3 March 2015. 
 

6.0   Impact on Waste Tonnages and Recycling 
 
6.1 It is anticipated that these service changes and the enhanced promotion of 

home composting will see the amount of green waste collected reduce by 
43% by weight, and that of that 43% reduction, 40% will divert to home 
composting, 25% to the Recycling Centre (free of charge) and 35% will no 
longer be produced.  It is anticipated that implementing these changes will 
have no significant impact on the council’s recycling rate. This is because the 
amount of dry recycling that is collected by the more convenient weekly 
service will remain the same and, whilst the amount of collected organic waste 
will reduce, this waste will be mainly displaced to home composting or to the 
council’s Recycling Centre at Abbey Road, where it can be deposited free of 
charge.   

 
6.2 This is line with evidence from a number of boroughs where chargeable 

garden waste schemes have already been introduced. This generally shows 
that whilst some garden waste tonnage might be ‘lost’, significant negative 
impact on the recycling rate is unlikely. Indeed, the existing free garden waste 
collection actually draws in material that could be composted at home, 
meaning that the total amount of waste collected is actually inflated. Whilst 
free garden waste services are an easy way to increase recycling rates, there 
is no environmental benefit, as the extra material needs to be moved and 
processed.  In line with the waste hierarchy it is better to avoid the need for 
this waste to be collected and treated in the first place. 

 
6.3  A more frequent collection of dry recycling will be more convenient for 

residents and may see less waste illegally fly-tipped on streets and 
pavements. 

 
7.0 Impact on contract targets 
 
7.1 The implications of these service changes for two of the four key targets set 

out in the Public Realm Contract are as follows:  
 

1. The CO2 emissions would be slightly worse as Veolia would operate fewer 
vehicles but the vehicles to be used (twin packs) would be less fuel 
efficient.  The exact change will be negotiated with Veolia if this proposal is 
agreed by the Cabinet.   
 

2. Customer satisfaction with waste collection may reduce in 2015/2016 but 
would then increase again in 2016/17. 
Year Waste 

Collection (CSw) 
Notes 

Page 99



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

2014/15 80 No change 
2015/16 70 Reduced from 82 
2016/17 85 No change 

 
8.0 Summary of Benefits 
  
8.1 The main benefits of the proposed scheme are, therefore, as follows: 

• A new, weekly dry recycling service. 
• A separate food waste collection service made available to all street 

level properties. 
• A significant operational cost saving that will help sustain these new 

service improvements. 
• Enhanced promotion of waste reduction and home composting. 
• A reduction in the tonnes of waste needed that must be disposed of - 

without significant negative impact on the council’s recycling rate. 
• Potentially, less fly-tipping. 

  
9.0  Financial Implications 
 
9.1 In year 1 there is a £260,000 cost to be paid to Veolia which includes 

£230,000 for the mobilisation of the new services.  From year 2 onwards this 
is reduced to £22,000.  The total annual net benefit of implementing these 
proposals would be £140k in Year 1 (to account for set up costs) and £378k in 
each year thereafter (see table below). This fully accounts for the cost of 
increasing the frequency of the dry recycling service and of extending the food 
waste service. 

 
9.2 Veolia will be responsible for collecting the service charge from customers 

and will pass on all income received from customers to the council and make 
up any difference fully to a guaranteed annual amount offered of £400,000. 
Veolia will retain any income collected over and above £400,000. If the full 
cost of the service in any Contract Year is significantly greater than expected 
and if the Contractor reasonably believes that such variance is resulting in the 
Contractor being obliged to pass on income to the Council over and above 
that which it is receiving from customers, such variance shall be subject to the 
agreement of the Parties (acting reasonably). 

 
9.3 As the service commences in March 2015 it is proposed that the charging 

schedule be amended from the start of the 2015/16 financial year.   
 In 2015/16 there is a £260,000 cost to be paid for Veolia which includes 

£230,000 for the mobilisation.  From 2016/17 onwards this reduces to 
£22,000.  The total annual net benefit of implementing these proposals would 
be £140k in 2015/16 (to account for set up costs) and £378k in each year 
thereafter (see table below). 

 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Net operating efficiency -£47,000 -£47,000 -£47,000 -£47,000 
Annual administration £50,000 £50,000 £50,000 £50,000 
Caddies £112,000 £5,000 £5,000 £5,000 
Caddy repay charge -£98,000 £14,000 £14,000 £14,000 

Page 100



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

Mobilisation £178,000 £0 £0 £0 
Start up administration £50,000 £0 £0 £0 
Communications £15,000 £0 £0 £0 
Total cost  £260,000 £22,000 £22,000 £22,000 

        

Income -£400,000 -£400,000 -£400,000 -£400,000 
     

Net saving -£140,000 -£378,000 -£378,000 -£378,000 
 
9.4 There is an open opportunity to discuss potential alternatives to the current 

priced option for the service with Veolia. The pricing and the schedule of fees 
could be subject to review at any time if it was established that further benefits 
may be possible. Officers have asked Veolia to maintain an on-going 
evaluation of prices so that alternative levels of charging could be considered 
if necessary. 

 
10.0 Legal Implications 
 
10.1  The Council has a duty under section 45(1) of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990 to arrange for the collection of household waste. Generally,  no 
charge can be levied for collection of household waste except in cases set out 
in  section 45(3) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 1 of the Controlled Waste Regulations of 2012 and these statutory 
provisions allow a Council to charge for the collection of garden waste. 
Section 45(3) allows councils to recover a reasonable charge for the collection 
of such waste. 

 
10.2 The introduction of a chargeable green waste service will require a variation to 

the Public Realm Contract. Schedule 14 of the Public Realm Contract 
(Change Protocol) sets out the principles to be applied in the event that the 
Contract is subject to a Variation or any other change. 

 
10.3 In agreeing the recommendations, regard should be had to the equality and 

diversity matters detailed in Section 12. 
 
11.0 Diversity Implications 
 
11.1 It is expected that a weekly collection of dry recycling will be more convenient 

for all residents and will ensure any existing pressures households may face 
with regards to waste storage will be reduced and overcome. 

 
11.2 Extended food waste provision will also ensure more residents have access to 

this important service. 
 
11.3 A detailed Equality Impact Assessment has been completed (Appendix 1) to 

establish the implications of the garden waste charge. The outcomes of the 
assessments demonstrate that there will be little impact for residents, apart 
from those older residents on low incomes or those with a disability on a low 
income. The council will continue to support residents who may have difficulty 
accessing our services, by way of assisted collection schemes and/or direct 
support from officers, where necessary.  Residents in receipt of means tested 

Page 101



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

benefits including housing or council tax benefit, Job Seekers Allowance, 
Income Support and Pension Credit will receive a 20% discount.   

 
11.4 In addition, a subscription scheme may actually ensure a fairer distribution of 

service provision. For example, in Exeter, feedback from residents suggested 
a chargeable garden waste service was the fairest option for that city because 
many houses had small or no gardens, meaning that many residents were 
subsidising others. Such circumstances equally apply to Brent. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 

11.5  The public sector equality duty, as set out in section 149 of the 2010 Act, 
requires the Council, when exercising its functions, to have “due regard” to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act, and to advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between those who have a “protected characteristic” and 
those who do not share that protected characteristic. 
 

11.6  The “protected characteristics” are: age, disability, race (including ethnic or 
national origins, colour or nationality), religion or belief, sex, sexual 
orientation, pregnancy and maternity, and gender reassignment. Marriage and 
civil partnership are also a protected characteristic for the purposes of the 
duty to eliminate discrimination. 
 

11.7 Having “due regard” to the need to “advance equality of opportunity” between 
those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not includes 
having due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered 
by them. Due regard must also be had to the need to take steps to meet the 
needs of such persons where those needs are different from persons who do 
not have that characteristic, and to encourage those who have a protected 
characteristic to participate in public life. The steps involved in meeting the 
needs of disabled persons include steps to take account of the persons’ 
disabilities. Having due regard to “fostering good relations” involves having 
due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 
 

11.8 The Council’s duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is to have “due 
regard” to the matters set out in relation to equalities when considering and 
making decisions on the introduction of additional licensing for the area of 
Brent and the introduction of selective licensing. Due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations must form 
an integral part of the decision making process. When the decision comes 
before the Cabinet, Members of the Cabinet must consider the effect that 
implementing such a particular decision will have in relation to equality before 
making a decision. An Equality Impact Assessment will assist with this. 

 
11.9  There is no prescribed manner in which the equality duty must be exercised, 

though producing an Equality Impact Assessment is the most usual method. 
The Council must have an adequate evidence base for its decision making.  
 

11.10 The Equality Impact Assessment is set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 
 

Page 102



 
 
Date: July 2014 

Version no.5.6 
Date 08/07/2014 

 

 
12.0 Staffing/Accommodation Implications (if appropriate) 

 
12.1 There are no staffing or accommodation implications for council staff as a 

consequence of this report. 
Background Papers 
 
Appendix 1:  Equality Impact Assessment 
Appendix 2:  Charging Arrangements Elsewhere 
 
Contact Officers 
Chris Whyte, Head of Service, Recycling and Waste, Extension 5342 
 
 
SUE HARPER 
Strategic Director Environment and Neighbourhoods 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Cabinet  

21 July 2014 
 

Strategic Director, Environment and Neighbourhoods 

 

For Action               Wards affected:   ALL 

Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections 

 
 
 
 

AMENDMENT TO REPORT 
 
 
 
Financial Implications  
 

9.2 Veolia will be responsible for collecting the service charge from customers and will 
pass on all income received from customers to the council and make up any 
difference fully to a guaranteed annual amount offered of £400,000. Veolia will also 
pass to the council any income collected over and above £400,000. If the full cost of 
the service in any Contract Year is significantly greater than expected and if the 
Contractor reasonably believes that such variance is resulting in the Contractor being 
obliged to pass on income to the Council over and above that which it is receiving 
from customers, such variance shall be subject to the agreement of the Parties 
(acting reasonably). 
 

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



Brent Council Equality Analysis Form 
 
Please contact the Corporate Diversity team before completing this form. The form is to be 
used for both predictive Equality Analysis and any reviews of existing policies and practices 
that may be carried out. 

Once you have completed this form, please forward to the Corporate Diversity Team for 
auditing. Make sure you allow sufficient time for this. 

1. Roles and Responsibilities: please refer to stage 1 of  the guidance  

Directorate: Environment and 
Neighbourhoods 

 

 

Service Area: Environment and 
Neighbourhoods 

Person Responsible:  

Name: Jenny Isaac 

Title: Operational Director 

Contact No: 020 8937 5001 

Signed: 

Name of policy: Managing the Public 
Realm Option for Chargeable Green 
Waste 

Date analysis started: May 2014 
 
Completion date: tbc 
 
Review date: ongoing 

Is the policy: 

 

New Y  Old □ 

Auditing Details: 

Name: Chris Whyte 

Title: Head of Recycling and Waste 

Date: May 2014 

Contact No: 020 8937 5342 

Signed: 

Signing Off Manager: responsible 
for review and monitoring 

Name: Chris Whyte 

Title: Head of Recycling and Waste 

Date: 

Contact No: 020 8937 5342 

Signed: 

Decision Maker:  

Name individual /group/meeting/ 
committee: 

Cabinet 

Date: 

 
  

Page 107



2 
 

 
2. Brief description of the proposed new contract. Describe the aim and purpose of the 
policy what needs or duties is it designed to meet?   How does it differ from any 
existing practice in this area? 
Please refer to stage 2 of the guidance. 

This Equality analysis should be read in conjunction with the previous Public Realm 
contract analysis.  
 

As part of the worsening economic climate officers have been working to identify other 
options to reduce tonnes of waste, increase recycling and to deliver financial savings.  This 
led to an option to encourage home composting and to charge for green waste.  This would 
generate a saving of approximately £378k per annum.   A similar policy has been rolled out 
elsewhere in London in the following local authorities:  Bromley, Ealing, Havering, 
Lewisham, Lambeth, Kingston, Merton, and Richmond.  It is estimated that over 10,000 
households in Brent already have a compost bin at home.   
 
The table below shows the current charges for garden waste collections in London and 
whether discounts are offered – it highlights that the charges range from £10 for sacks to 
£75 for a 240L wheeled bin: 
 

Local 
Authority 

Charge for garden waste 
(per annum) 

Container 
provided 

Discounts 

Bromley £60 240L bin n/a 

Ealing £40 240L bin  
25% discount for over 65s or on benefits 
£30 for six months 

Havering £35 240L bin £28 for over 60s or on benefits.  

Kingston £75 240L bin 
 
£64 for over 60s 
£49 for six months 

Lambeth £35 
2 x re-usable 
sacks 

£23 for six months  

Lewisham £10 per roll (10 sacks)* sacks n/a 

Merton £65 240L bin 
£50 for over 60s  
£30 for six months  

Richmond £60 240L bin 

£45 for over 75s 
£50 if paying by credit/debit card (£35 for over 75s) 
£30 for 6 months with further discount for over 75s 
and if paying by credit/debit card 

 
*this amount is not per annum.  
 

 Looking at this, the proposed charge for a resident to have their green waste collected is 
£40 a year – less than 80 pence a week.  There will be a 20% discount for OAPs and 
those in receipt of means tested benefits. This includes housing or council tax 
benefit, Job Seekers Allowance, Income Support and Pension Credit. 

• Residents can avoid the charge by buying heavily subsidised compost bins – 

Page 108



3 
 

220 litres for £16.98 or 330 litres for £19.98 plus £5.49 delivery charge 
• Residents would be asked to subscribe for the service by phone or online 
• Anyone not subscribing will have their 240 litre organic bin removed and all 

residents will be given a 23 litre kerbside container for their food waste plus a 5 
litre kitchen caddy with a guidance leaflet 

• Food and recycling will be collected weekly with residual waste remaining 
fortnightly 

 
This option has been shown to increase recycling in other parts of the country and gives 
residents a weekly food waste collection – overcoming concerns about leaving food 
outdoors for longer periods and in the hot weather.   
 
In addition home composting has significant environmental advantages. Home composting 
specifically tackles those elements of the household waste stream that make the largest 
contributions to landfill both in terms of weight and carbon impacts.  In addition, the 
material streams that can be home composted – garden waste and food waste – have 
been predicted to be two of the three fastest growing components of household waste in 
the future, making home composting a key waste prevention initiative. 

Home composting can also play a significant contribution to reducing the amount of 
unsorted waste sent to landfill.  The Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP)1 
estimates that residents using home compost bins can compost up to 150kg/hh/year2 
(equivalent to 2.88kg/hh/week).   

 

If this proposal is agreed there would be an extensive communications campaign managed 
by Veolia explaining how the new service works and setting out the collection day changes 

 
 

3. Describe how the proposed new policy will impact on all of the protected groups: 
 
Residents already have the option to compost at home with a minimal outlay for a compost 
bin.  This policy change is designed to encourage further home composting and to ensure 
that residents without gardens are not subsidising those residents who choose not to 
compost.  It is estimated that approximately 10,000 households already have a compost bin 
at home purchased as part of the subsidised scheme from the Council.  This excludes 
households who may have purchased home compost bins using other means..   
 
The following table shows the proportions of residents living in properties that will or are 
likely to have access to their own garden space.   It is possible that up to 50% of residents 
won’t be affected, for example if they live in flats, maisonettes or apartments as they are 
unlikely to have a garden.   
 
 
 
                                            
1  www.wrap.org.uk 
2  The diversion figure is mostly relevant to home composting schemes which offer additional support to participants 

Page 109



4 
 

 
 
Proportions of residents living in different property types 

  
Bren
t 

Bromle
y 

Haverin
g 

Lewisha
m 

Lambet
h 

Kingsto
n 

Merto
n 

Richmon
d 

Londo
n 

% 
detached 
houses - 
2011 6.5 18.4 10.9 3.3 2.4 12.7 5.8 8.4 6.2 

% semi-
detached 
houses - 
2011 23.9 29.9 40.7 13.1 8.2 31.4 18.1 24.1 18.6 

% terraced 
houses - 
2011 16.9 21.6 26.4 28.2 16.3 17.9 38.3 26.9 22.9 

% Flat, 
maisonett
e or 
apartment 
- 2011 52.7 30 21.8 55.4 73.2 38.0 37.6 40.5 52.2 

Source: Census 2011. 

The table below sets out the average weekly earnings in boroughs that are already 
charging for green waste collections.   

Average weekly earnings per green waste charging borough in London (equivalised data*) 

  2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 

Brent 368.4 359.8 395.5 394.7 398.7 421.6 438.0 438.6 416.9 

Bromley 440.1 449.2 461.2 464.8 479.5 506.3 548.4 546.5 555.0 

Havering 385.1 413.4 449.3 463.9 424.9 455.8 504.9 485.7 511.9 

Kingston upon 
Thames 435.7 441.5 460.7 479.0 499.8 527.4 521.7 568.0 584.5 

Lambeth 404.3 425.5 446.7 460.3 455.6 490.7 493.8 523.1 546.2 

Lewisham 394.9 429.6 425.1 431.8 431.4 436.4 445.5 487.0 475.7 

Merton 436.3 439.4 442.5 493.9 474.4 511.3 527.0 529.3 543.8 

Richmond upon 
Thames 564.9 567.8 595.6 584.7 583.0 578.2 642.0 623.1 670.8 

London 419.7 435.9 448.7 458.0 468.0 486.7 503.0 517.5 518.5 

Page 110



5 
 

Source: GLA London Datastore. *equivalised means that the data has been revised to account for 
other relevant factors, in this case household size, composition etc. to give a realistic estimate of 
average weekly earnings. 

The table shows that many of the other charging boroughs have a higher mean income and 
the trend is that their incomes are rising. Brent and Lewisham have declining AWEs with 
Brent’s negative trajectory being more pronounced. Brent also has the lowest AWE in the 
group.   

To ensure that the new service is inclusive, green waste charges have been kept as low as 
possible (£40 per year per container) and discounts will be offered to pensioners andthose 
in receipt of means tested benefits. This includes housing or council tax benefit, 
Job Seekers Allowance, Income Support and Pension Credit.  A further mitigating 
action of the offer is a heavily subsidised home composting arrangement should 
households prefer this. Prices are: 

a) 220 litres  - £19.98 plus £5.49 delivery charge 
b) 330 litres  - £22.98 plus £5.49 delivery charge 

The potential impact is summarised in section 6. 

Please give details of the evidence you have used:  
 
In order to determine whether or not the project is likely to have an adverse impact or even 
discriminate against any groups in the resident base, the following data sets and 
documentation have been utilised and referred to where appropriate: 
 

1. Performance management data 
2. Data from WLWA waste strategies 
3. Census data 2011 (updated data sets – May 2013 revision) 
4. Census 2001 (revised data sets) 
5. Brent demographic data (Evidence Base) 
6. Mosaic Public Sector (all types shown for comparison) 
7. National and local statistics (ONS, GLA, NOMIS, GiGL etc.) 
8. ‘Brent Our Future’ 2010-2014, the council’s corporate strategy 
9. Brent Council’s ‘Household Waste Collection Strategy 2010-2014 
10. Service level waste collection data 
11. CACI income data (2011, 2012 and 2013) 
12. GLA London Datastore (various) 

 
How the datasets and information have been utilised is described above. For a full list, 
please visit the Data Room, see section 6 evidence (below). 
 

  

Page 111



6 
 

4.  Describe how the proposed new contract will impact on the Council’s duty to have due 
regard to the need to:  
 

(a) Eliminate discrimination (including indirect discrimination), harassment and 
victimisation;  

 
The public realm contract  and the green waste scheme is designed to continue the robust waste 
collection service of the previous contract by ensuring that all sections of Brent are catered for 
and none are discriminated against.   
 
It is important to note that the services offered do not promote discrimination, harassment or any 
form of victimisation, rather they promote the ease of day to day life in the borough and have 
been researched prior to implementation to ensure a good fit with the area demographic in 
question.   
 

(b) Advance equality of opportunity; 
 
The new public realm contract and the green waste scheme has been designed to give Brent 
residents a good standard of service. In recent years, the council has introduced several new 
facets to its waste collection service in order to increase value for money and provide residents 
with a fairer and better quality service.  
This policy option has no impact on advancing equality of opportunity. 
 

(c) Foster good relations  
 
This policy option has no impact on fostering good relations. 
 

 

5.  What engagement activity did you carry out as part of your assessment?  Please refer to 
stage 3 of the guidance. 
i. Who did you engage with?  

 
Members:  Members were involved as part of the Budget options engagement. 

 

6.  Have you identified a negative impact on any protected group, or identified any unmet 
needs/requirements that affect specific protected groups? If so, explain what actions you 
have undertaken, including consideration of any alternative proposals, to lessen or 
mitigate against this impact. 
Please refer to stage 2, 3 & 4 of the guidance. 

Page 112



7 
 

 

Category Impact Mitigation  

Age  In some cases elderly residents 
have a lower income and there 
is a risk that the charge would 
impact on them.   

Residents will have the option of a 
one off payment for a subsidised 
home compost bin to help mitigate 
the financial impact and manage 
the garden waste arisings.   

Where an inpact is identified, 
residents above retirement age will 
benefit from a 20% discounted 
annual subscriptions for the garden 
waste collection service.  

Brent Mosaic identifies that 1.77% 
of the population falls within the 
group of “elderly people reliant on 
state support”.  The council will 
ensure that where residents in this 
group have access to garden waste, 
clear communications and support 
channels are in place to mitigate 
potential impacts. 

Disability  In some cases residents with a 
disability have a lower income 
and there is a risk that the 
charge would impact on them.  . 

Residents will have the option of a 
one off payment for a subsidised 
home compost bin to help mitigate 
the financial impact and manage 
the garden waste arisings.   

Where an impact is identified, 
there will also be a discount for the 
subscription of the service for 
those residents  in receipt of 
means tested benefits. 
This includes housing or 
council tax benefit, Job 
Seekers Allowance, 
Income Support and 
Pension Credit. 

Gender No impact No impact identified. 

Race There may be some impact due 
to the language barrier, 
particularly where there are 
pockets of fast moving transient 
residents.  

 

Any language barriers will be 
mitigated by the well designed and 
flexible communications strategy 
and action plans that are being 

Page 113



8 
 

 designed for the contract. 

Brent Mosaic identifies that 
10.65% of the population falls 
within the group of “lower income 
workers in urban terraces in often 
diverse areas”.  The council will 
ensure that where residents in this 
group have access to garden waste, 
clear communications and support 
channels are in place to mitigate 
potential impacts. 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

No impact identified.   

Faith No impact identified.  

Gender re-
assignment 

No impact identified.  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

No impact identified.  

Religion or belief No impact identified.  

Sexual 
orientation 

No impact identified. 

 

 

 

 
Please give details of the evidence you have used:  
 

In order to ensure that all stages of this project are based on accurate and timely information, the 
project team constructed a comprehensive data room for the duration of the project. The data 
room included several types of relevant documentation, indexed according to function and use, 
and ranging from borough wide policies, GIS mapping and performance information to individual 
parks listings with land usage etc.  

The data room gave bidders a thorough snapshot of the borough and its public realm service. 
Prospective bidders got a good idea of the borough’s demographics and recent service 
performance before doing their own detailed due diligence and tailoring their respective bids to 
the needs of the client base. Once the contract has been awarded, the new contractor can use 
the information in their performance management and continuation of service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



9 
 

7. Analysis summary 
Please tick boxes to summarise the findings of your analysis.  

Protected Group Positive 
impact 

Adverse 
impact 

 Neutral 

Age   X 

Disability   X 

Gender re-assignment   X 

Marriage and civil partnership   X 

Pregnancy and maternity   X 

Race   X 

Religion or belief   X 

Sex    X 

Sexual orientation   X 

 

8. The Findings of your Analysis 
Please complete whichever of the following sections is appropriate (one only). 
Please refer to stage 4 of the guidance.  

No major change  
Your analysis demonstrates that: 
• The policy is lawful 
• The evidence shows no potential for direct or indirect discrimination 
• You have taken all appropriate opportunities to advance equality and foster good 

relations between groups.  
 
Please document below the reasons for your conclusion and the information that you 
used to make this decision. 
 

N/a. 

Page 115



10 
 

Adjust the policy   
This may involve making changes to the policy to remove barriers or to better 
advance equality. It can mean introducing measures to mitigate the potential adverse 
effect on a particular protected group(s).  
 
Remember that it is lawful under the Equality Act to treat people differently in some 
circumstances, where there is a need for it. It is both lawful and a requirement of the 
public sector equality duty to consider if there is a need to treat disabled people 
differently, including more favourable treatment where necessary. 
 
If you have identified mitigating measures that would remove a negative impact, 
please detail those measures below.  
Please document below the reasons for your conclusion, the information that you 
used to make this decision and how you plan to adjust the policy. 
 
 
N/A 
 

Continue the policy  
This means adopting your proposals, despite any adverse effect or missed 
opportunities to advance equality, provided you have satisfied yourself that it does 
not amount to unlawful discrimination, either direct or indirect discrimination. 
 
In cases where you believe discrimination is not unlawful because it is objectively 
justified, it is particularly important that you record what the objective justification is 
for continuing the policy, and how you reached this decision. 
 
Explain the countervailing factors that outweigh any adverse effects on equality as 
set out above: 
 
The proposal to encourage home composting and to implement a charge for green 
waste would be lawful and the potential impact is mitigated as far as responsibly 
possible.  The council will ensure that the charge for the collection of garden waste 
compares positively against other local authorities in London and that discounts will 
apply for residents in the older age groups and for those residents in receipt of 
means tested benefits. This includes housing or council tax benefit, Job 
Seekers Allowance, Income Support and Pension Credit. 
 
Residents will also have the option to purchase a heavily subsidised home compost 
bin.  Home composting has significant environmental and economic advantages than 
other means of managing garden waste. 
 
All residents will receive a weekly food waste collection service. 
 
Please document below the reasons for your conclusion and the information that you 
used to make this decision: 

The information used to make the decision is set out in the body of the equality 
impact assessment.   

Page 116



11 
 

A thorough and wide ranging communications plan will be drawn up and focused 
information will be available to residents.  We will be using local media sources (for 
example our website) and wider publicity will include media such as The Brent 
Magazine and external advertising.   

Stop and remove the policy  
If there are adverse effects that are not justified and cannot be mitigated, and if the 
policy is not justified by countervailing factors, you should consider stopping the 
policy altogether. If a policy shows unlawful discrimination it must be removed or 
changed.  
 
Please document below the reasons for your conclusion and the information that you 
used to make this decision. 
 
N/A 

 

9.  Monitoring and review  
Please provide details of how you intend to monitor the contract in the future.   
Please refer to stage 7 of the guidance. 
 
The Public Realm Services Contract will be underpinned by Contract Targets and 
Key Outcome Targets. 

Performance monitoring will be continuous and equality considerations will be taken 
into account both when decisions are made and after the changes are implemented. 
Where equalities data is not currently captured, this may be introduced via the 
performance management arrangement in the new contract. 

After implementation of the new scheme, there will be detailed analysis of KPIs 
including recycling, levels of waste sent to landfill, services available to residents via 
our parks, grounds maintenance and satisfaction rates. This should enable the 
service to respond to identified issues in a focused manner. There will be dedicated 
performance management and contract management teams on both the client and 
contractor to ensure successful delivery throughout. 

 

  

Page 117



12 
 

10. Action plan and outcomes                     

At Brent, we want to make sure that our equality monitoring and analysis results in positive 
outcomes for our colleagues and customers.  

Use the table below to record any actions we plan to take to address inequality, barriers or 
opportunities identified in this analysis. 

 
Action By 

when 
Lead 
officer 

Desired outcome  Date 
completed 

Actual outcome 

Robust 
communications 
plan 

 Chris 
Whyte 

Residents well 
informed about the 
new scheme 

  

      

      

      

      

Please forward to the Corporate Diversity Team for auditing. 

  

Page 118



Appendix 2:  
Summary of comparable boroughs with chargeable garden waste service 
 

Borough Garden Waste Service Charging Structure 
Ealing Council  Fortnightly collection – year round 

240 litre wheeled bin 
OR Biodegradable sacks 

£40 per bin per year 
25% discount for concessions (over 65’s, 
means tested benefits)  
Additional bins can be obtained at 25% 
discount 
£20 for 25 biodegradable sacks 
£40 for 50 biodegradable sacks 

London Borough of 
Kingston 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre wheeled bin  
OR Biodegradable sacks 

£69 per bin per year (maximum three) 
£59 for concessions 
£25 per roll of 10 biodegradable sacks 
£22 concessions 

London Borough of 
Richmond upon 
Thames 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre wheeled bin 
OR 110 litre biodegradable sacks 

£50 per bin per year (direct debit) 
£60 per bin per year (other payment) 
25% discount for over 75’s 
£14 per pack of 10 sacks 
£230 per 1100 litre bin per year (flats) 

London Borough of 
Merton 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre brown wheeled bin 
OR 75 litre paper sacks 

£65 per bin / pack of 25 75-litre paper 
sacks (maximum three bins) 
£50 for concessions 

London Borough of 
Havering 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre green wheeled bin 

£33 per bin year year 
£26.40 for concessions 
Additional bins can be obtained at 20% 
discount 

London Borough of 
Lambeth 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
Reusable sacks 

£25 per licence (maximum two) 
PLUS reusable sacks – £5 each 

London Borough of 
Wandsworth 

Service on request 
Biodegradable sacks 

£16 – each single collection of up to 20 
sacks 
£3.50 – roll of 20 biodegradable sacks 

London Borough of 
Lewisham 

Service on request 
Biodegradable sacks 

£10 per roll of 10 biodegradable sacks 

Southend Borough 
Council 

Fortnightly – year round  
240 litre wheeled bin 
OR biodegradable sacks 

£44.40 – 52 week permit 
£33.25 – 39 week permit 
PLUS £28.40 – wheelie bin 
£15.80 = service charge extension (from 
39 to 52 weeks) 
£5.50 – roll of 10 biodegradable sacks 

Tandridge District 
Council 

Fortnightly – year round  
240 litre brown wheeled bin 

£42.50 per bin per year (maximum six) 

Gloucester City 
Council 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre green wheeled bin 

£36 per bin per year 
£18 per bin per year if receiving Housing / 
Council Tax Benefit 

Reigate & 
Banstead Borough 
Council 

Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 litre brown wheeled bin 
OR 60 litre reusable sacks 

£36 per bin per year (maximum six) 
£18 per sack 
Additional £5 for not paying direct debit 

Oxford City Council Fortnightly collection – year round 
240 / 140 litre brown wheeled bin 
OR 75 litre paper sacks 

£35 per bin per year (no limit on number 
of bins) 
£35 per roll of 20 biodegradable sacks 
£25 per roll of 10 biodegradable sacks 

Exeter City Council Fortnightly collection (summer) 
Monthly by appointment (winter) 
240 litre brown wheeled bin 
OR Biodegradable sacks 
 

£35 per bin per year 
£10 per roll of 10 biodegradable sacks 

 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Scrutiny Committee 
6 August 2014 

Report from Assistant Chief Executive 
 

For Information  
 

  
 

  

Proposed Scope for Scrutiny Task Group on Promoting 
Electoral Engagement 

 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the proposed scope for the Scrutiny task group on Promoting 

Electoral Engagement.  This task group has been requested by Members in 
response to the introduction of individual electoral registration (IER).  IER is a 
significant change in the manner in which the electoral register is compiled and 
maintained.   The process for electoral registration will change from household 
registration to individuals being responsible for their own registration. 
 

1.2 The purpose of the task group will be to focus on proposed actions to promote 
electoral registration and target those groups who may be adversely affected by the 
changes and as a consequence could lose their right to vote.  In particular the task 
group will look at actions to engage with groups known at a national level to be under 
represented on the electoral register such as:- 
 

• Young people becoming 18. 
• Those aged 18 – 24. 
• Tenants in private rented accommodation 
• Postal voters 
• People whose first language is not English 
• People with learning disabilities 

 
The task group will bring forward proposals concerning effective communications 
and outreach with potentially affected groups, and suggested actions to increase the 
number of people registered to vote. 
 

1.3 Enabling local people to participate in local decision-making is an objective within the 
Council’s Borough Plan.  Ensuring that the processes in place for electoral 
registration are accessible and understood by all parts of the community is key to 
providing a strong and fair democratic process. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 121



2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are recommended to agree the scope and time 

line for the task group on Promoting Electoral Engagement attached as Appendix A. 
 

3.0 Detail 
 
3.1 With the introduction of Individual Electoral Registration Members of the Scrutiny 

Committee requested a time-limited task group undertake a focused piece of work 
on potential actions to improve communications and ensure maximum registration.  
The proposed scope for this work is attached as Appendix A. 
 

Contact officers 
Cathy Tyson, 
Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
 
 
Ben Spinks 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
  

Page 122



Appendix A 
 
 

Promoting Electoral Engagement 
Proposed scope for Scrutiny Task group 

August 2014 
 
Lead Member – Cllr Neil Nerva 
 
Time frame – Report to Scrutiny Committee meeting on 3rd November 2014. 

 
What is being looked at and why? 
The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 received Royal Assent on 31 
January 2014 resulting in significant changes to the process required for individuals 
to register to vote.  Individual Electoral Registration went live in July 2014 and as a 
result the annual registration canvass in 2013 was the last conducted under the 
previous process. 

 
 IER includes the following features 

 
• The traditional method of registration carried out annually by the completion of a 

form by the householder will cease.   Although annual forms will continue to be 
sent to households, new residents identified on returned forms will be required to 
make a separate individual application.  
 

• All new applicants to register to vote will have to supply two personal identifiers, 
namely their date of birth and their national insurance number. 
 

• Greater use will be made of government and local authority databases to confirm 
electors’ residence. 
 

• While two new personal identifiers have been introduced, the need for a 
signature has been removed.   This change will enable applicants to make 
electronic applications to register to vote via the website. 
 

 
 As the new process marks a significant change from household registration to the 

individual taking responsibility for their own registration there is the potential for 
some groups to be excluded through this process. 

 
 From July 2014 every local authority will carry out a data match of its existing 

electoral register against data held by the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP).   
All electors who are successfully matched will be automatically included in the new 
electoral register published by 1 December 2014, written confirmation of which must 
be sent to those electors.   Electors who are not successfully matched will be invited 
to re-register but will have to supply the two personal identifiers. 

 
 The first IER annual canvass in 2014 will commence after the data match has been 

carried out.   The council must send a Household Enquiry Form, in effect the 
equivalent of the traditional annual canvass form, to properties where we consider 

Page 123



there may be residents eligible to vote and not currently registered.  When a form is 
returned identifying new residents, a further form, an Invitation to Register, must be 
sent to each named person requesting the supply of their date of birth and national 
insurance number.   The details of all new electors must be matched against the 
DWP database in order to validate the applications. 

 
 In the case of both forms, the Household Enquiry Form and the Invitation to Register, 

a reminder and a second reminder must be sent and followed, if necessary, by 
household visits.   The Act enables the Electoral Registration Officer to impose a civil 
penalty on residents failing to respond to the Invitation to Register as long as certain 
steps have been taken.   It also remains a criminal offence not to return the annual 
household enquiry form. 

 
 Every registration authority has been required to undertake a rehearsal data match 

of its electoral register against the DWP database in a ‘confirmation dry run’.   This 
test has no bearing on the final content of the electoral register but provided an 
indication of what may be expected when IER goes live. These results have been 
examined to determine areas of low matches and sections of the community where 
the match rate is low.  Nationally the rate of positive matches ranged from 47% to 
87%. The average positive match result across London authorities was 68%.   
Brent’s match rate was marginally below the London average at 67.6%. 

 
 A number of wards in Brent recorded rates significantly below this level at:- 
 

• Willesden Green – 56% 
• Kilburn – 58% 
• Mapesbury – 56% 

 
This indicates areas with high levels of population movement or transient 
communities who could be adversely affected by the introduction of IER.  The risk of 
under representation as a result of IER in the UK is considerable. Other countries 
changing to IER have experienced significant initial reductions in registrations 
followed by slight improvements in later years. 
 
There is already an unacceptably high level of under-registration in the UK as a 
whole.  In July 2014 the Electoral Commission estimated the figure nationally to be 
as high as 7.5 million potential voters.  The Commission suggests that this is in the 
main due to people being incorrectly registered at their addresses, with age, ethnicity 
and social attitudes also having an impact on registration. The Commission’s most 
recent analysis suggests that 15% of people eligible to vote are not correctly 
registered. 

 
 What are the main issues? 
 There are some important issues arising from IER which should shape the direction 

of the task group’s work.  These are set out below. 
 

• The Electoral Registration Officer must decide to which properties a 
Household Enquiry Form is to be sent based on the matching process.   If no 
form is sent to those addresses where all existing electors have been 
successfully matched, it is likely that changes in those properties, eg new 

Page 124



residents or young persons coming of age, will not be identified.   Conversely 
there is likely to be confusion in addresses receiving simultaneously a 
confirmation or confirmations of registration and a Household Enquiry Form. 

 
• Electors failing to respond in the first IER canvass in autumn 2014 are to be 

carried forward into the register to be published by 1 December so that they 
retain their ability to vote in the 2015 General Election.   However any elector 
who is a postal voter and who has either not been successfully data matched 
or has failed to provide their personal identifiers, while remaining registered to 
vote, will lose their postal vote entitlement.  As a result of the “carry forward”, 
the electoral register published on 1 December 2014 is in danger of being 
artificially inflated by electors no longer resident at their registered address.  

  
• The greatest concern over IER is the degree to which electors will be lost from 

the register as a result of their failing to provide personal identifiers.    This 
may have a significant impact in 2016 when that year’s Greater London 
Authority elections will be contested on the first fully-IER electoral register in 
which every elector has been properly validated 
 

• Careful use of publicity and consultation with local communities and groups 
will be required to spread awareness.   Greater use of available local data 
sources will also be necessary to identify potential electors and enable more 
targeted canvassing.   An additional concern is that the electoral register 
published on 1 December 2015 is to be used by the Boundary Commission 
when it carries out its next review of parliamentary constituency boundaries. 

 
• Given the issues set out above the likelihood of widespread confusion about 

IER is high.  Many residents may be distrustful of providing additional 
personal information in the form of their national insurance number to local 
authorities.  Effective communications and out reach will be critical to ensuring 
that voter registration is maximised. 

 
 

 What should the task group cover? 
 It is proposed that the task group focus on the following issues:- 
 

• Analysis of recent electoral registration data to identify potential areas of 
under registration.  This will be aligned with demographic data on age, tenure 
and ethnicity to target potential areas at high risk of under registration. 
 

• Examine the current approach to communicating with residents regarding 
individual elector registration, with a specific focus on under- represented 
groups such as:- 

 
- Young people becoming 18. 
- Those aged 18 – 24 who are national under –represented. 
- Tenants in private rented accommodation 
- Postal voters 
- People whose first language is not English 
- People with learning disabilities 

Page 125



  
• Consider best practice approaches to communicating with hard to engage 

groups through a range of channels and media. 
 

• Consult with representatives from under represented groups and sections of 
the community to identify and understand potential barriers to electoral 
registration. 
 

• Propose a coherent communication and engagement approach to infirm the 
implementation of IER in Brent. 

 
 Who will be involved in the work of the task group? 
 The task group will consult with a range of internal and external partners. This should 

include:- 
  Internal 

• Elected Members 
• Electoral services 
• Communications team 
• Partnerships and Engagement team. 
• Business Intelligence Team 
• Youth Service 

 
 External 

• Local community and faith groups 
• Youth Parliament 
• Schools 
• Voluntary organisations providing services for people with learning 

difficulties. 
• Other local authorities. 
• Electoral Commission. 

 
 Intended outcomes from the task group 
 The intended outcomes from the task group will be:- 
 

• A clear approach to promoting electoral engagement, with a particular focus 
on potentially under represented groups. 

• Better targeting of canvassing activity and engagement with local 
communities. 

• Maintain and where possible deliver an improvement in the number of people 
on the electoral register. 

 

Page 126



 

Scrutiny Committee 
6 August 2014 

Report from Assistant Chief Executive 
 

For Information  
 

  
 

  

Budget Scrutiny Panel - Terms of Reference 

 
1. Summary 

1.1 This paper sets out the proposed terms of reference for the Budget Scrutiny Panel.  
The Panel will be responsible for providing scrutiny of the council’s budget proposals 
as they are developed for the financial year 2015/16 and beyond.  The panel will 
meet from September 2014 through to March 2015 to review the council’s emerging 
budget proposals and provide feedback to the Cabinet.  The Budget Panel will 
produce a final report reflecting their discussions and findings to the Cabinet and to 
Full Council in March 2015. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are recommended to agree the proposed terms 

of reference for the Budget Scrutiny Panel attached at Appendix A. 
 

3. Detailed Considerations 
 
3.1 The budget panel will review the council’s financial performance, medium term 

financial strategy, budget proposals and measures being taken to set a robust budget 
capable of delivering the administration’s priorities while achieving a balanced budget.  
This includes examining the main issues, risks and pressures facing the council and 
the actions being taken to militate them.  In addition, the panel report aims to be a 
source of accessible information for all non-cabinet councillors, thus enabling robust 
challenge and debate on the administration’s budget proposals.  The budget panel 
should mirror that of the budget setting process and will meet to review the emerging 
budget strategy from September 2014 through to March 2015. 
 
The Budget Scrutiny Panel has three opportunities to make its views known to the 
Cabinet and to the council as a whole.   These are: 
 

• First reading debate in November 2014, when the administration provides an 
initial outline of their priorities and budget strategy for the coming financial year. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 127



• First interim report in January 2015 when the Cabinet makes their budget 
proposals. 

• Final report on the budget to Full Council in March, which builds on the interim 
report and includes detailed recommendations. 

 
3.2 The financial context within which the council is setting the budget for 2015/16 and 

beyond is the most challenging faced by local government in the UK.  The continued 
reductions in central government funding, along with increased demand from a 
growing population, present significant and far-reaching choices for the Council. 

 
3.3 Brent Council will continue to face difficult decisions about which services are 

delivered in the future, how they are provided, as well as the size and shape of the 
organisation that will be sustainable in the future.  The main issue is how the 
administration proposes to set a balanced budget achieving significant savings whilst 
delivering on its priorities and taking advantage of any opportunities to innovate. 
 
The panel’s remit will include: 
 

• Informing the budget setting process through scrutiny of the emerging 
proposals and reflecting the views of members and their constituents. 

 
• Assisting in the setting of the council’s budget within the context of the 

Administrations priorities and the needs of Brent residents.  
 

• Supporting the longer term service planning of the council by focusing its 
discussions on the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the principles for budget 
setting, the robustness of the budget and the ability to deliver savings, key 
revenue budget outputs and decisions, and key capital budget outputs and 
decisions. 

 
• Identifying potential budget risks and assessing the robustness of mitigating 

actions 
 

• Reviewing the delivery of efficiency savings from transformational change 
projects within the One Council Programme. 

 
• Scrutiny of the Capital Programme 

 
• Effective management of budget pressures due to increases in population and 

demand. 
 

3.4 The Budget Scrutiny Panel will be chaired by Cllr Aslam Choudry, Chair of Scrutiny 
and will be composed of 7 other members.  In order to fulfil their remit the panel will 
hold a series of meetings with: 
 

• The Operational Director of Finance, who can provide provided regular 
updates on the budget process, budget gap, budget pressures and the future 
financial prospects for the council.   

 

Page 128



• The Strategic Director of Regeneration & Growth who can  provided 
information about the capital programme  

 
• The Programme Management Office Manager who can provide an overview 

of the One Council Programme and projected savings.  
 

• All Strategic Directors of council services who will provide updates on their 
department’s current budget position, actions being taken to control budget 
pressures deliver projects which aim to making savings and efficiencies and 
potential innovation.  
 

• The Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Finance and Resources to 
answer questions, discuss the First Reading Debate Papers and set out the 
administration’s approach to setting a robust budget. 

 
3.5 Attached at Appendix A are the terms of reference for the Budget Scrutiny Panel. 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However the 

purpose of the budget scrutiny panel is to ensure that the members of the Scrutiny 
Panel are able to influence and inform the medium term financial strategy of the 
council and ensure that financial and service risks are appropriately scrutinised. 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 Under the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Committee agreed by Full Council in the 

constitution the committee is empowered to review or scrutinise the decisions made 
or other action taken in connection with the discharge of any of the Authority’s 
executive functions including the process and setting of the councils budget and 
medium term financial strategy. 

 
 
6. Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 As part of the scrutiny of the council’s budget proposals, the panel will take into 

account the potential diversity impacts arising from the budget process and ensure 
that adequate diversity impact assessments are undertaken for all changes in service 
provision. 

 
Contact Officers 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
 
 
Ben Spinks 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 

Page 129



Appendix A 
 
 

Budget Scrutiny Panel 
Terms of Reference 

 
Membership  
• The Panel is comprised of 8 councillors.  
• None of the members shall be members of the Executive.  
 
 
Terms of Reference  
The Budget Scrutiny Panel shall perform the following functions. These functions are 
subject to the limitations set out below.  
 

1. To participate in the budget setting process in accordance with the provisions 
of Standing Order 25.  

 
2. To facilitate the setting of the Council’s budget within the context of the 

Corporate Strategy and any other overarching partnership strategies.  
 

3. To support the longer term service planning of the Council by focusing its 
discussions on the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the principles for budget 
setting, the robustness of the budget and the ability to deliver savings, key 
revenue budget outputs and decisions, and key capital budget outputs and 
decisions.  

 
4. To monitor spend compared to budget and the management of financial and 

other resources of the council and spend compared to budget.  
 
5. To produce and publish a report to Full Council on its discussion and findings.  
 
 

 

 

Page 130



Scrutiny Committee 
Draft Forward Plan 2014/15 

 
 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

 
Wednesday 6 August 2014 

 
• Health Scrutiny 

- Central Middlesex Hospital A&E Closure Assurance 
- Transforming Healthcare in Brent 

 
• Agree scopes for task groups 

- Promoting Electoral Registration 
- Budget Scrutiny Panel 
 

 
CCG, NHS 
 
 
 
 
Cathy Tyson, Head of Policy and Scrutiny 

 
Tuesday 9th September 2014 
 

 
• Parking service 
• Residents’ permits, scratch cards, CPZ, impact on high street 

businesses and customer contact. 
 

• Update on the performance of the Veolia contract, including out 
reach work with residents on recycle. 

 
• Agree scopes  

- Use of the pupil premium in Brent schools 
- Health task group (topic to be confirmed) 

 
 
Sue Harper, Strategic Director of Environment 
and Neighbourhoods 
 
 
 
 
 
Cathy Tyson, Head of Policy and Scrutiny 

 
Wednesday 1 October 2014 

 
• Local Safeguarding Children’s board Annual Report 
• School places strategy – Executive report 
• Children’s centres – Executive report 
• Exam Performance of Brent Schools 

 
Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People. 
 

  

A
genda Item

 10

P
age 131



 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

 
Monday 3 November 2014 

 
• Promoting Electoral Engagement – report from task group 

 
• Implementation of Diabetes recommendations follow-up 

 
• Implementation of child oral health actions follow - up 

 
Cathy Tyson, Head of Policy and Scrutiny and 
task group. 
 
 

 
Wednesday 26th November 
2014 

 
• Borough Plan, proposals for partnership structures and community 

engagement activities. 
• Update from Budget Scrutiny Panel 

 
Christine Gilbert, Interim Chief Executive. 
 
Chair of Budget Panel 

 
Tuesday 6 January 2015 

 
• Safer Brent Partnership – update on progress. 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Borough Commander Met Police 
Christine Gilbert, Chair of Safer Brent 
Partnership 
Chris Williams, Head of Community Safety. 
 
 

 
Tuesday 10 February 2015 

 
• Education Commission – 6th month Update on implementation of 

Action Plan 
• Use of Pupil Premium – Task group report 
• Health Task Group – Report of task group 

 

 
Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People. 
Chair of task groups 
 

 

  

P
age 132



 

 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

 
Wednesday 11 March 2015 

  

 
Thursday 30 April 2015 

 
 

 

 
Tuesday 16 June 2015 

  

 
Wednesday 8 July 2015 

 
 

 
 

 

 P
age 133



P
age 134

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Central Middlesex Hospital closure assurance
	closure-of-cmh-ande
	appendix-1

	6 Transforming Healthcare in Brent
	transforming-brent-health-services

	7 Call In - Changes to Recycling and Green Waste Collections
	ens-garden-waste
	en-green-waste-amendment
	ens-garden-waste-app1
	ens-garden-waste-app2

	8 Promoting electoral engagement
	9 Budget Scrutiny Panel - Terms of Reference
	10 Scrutiny Committee draft forward plan 2014/15

